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 ChaIrman’SREpORT

Glenn Featherby

Dear ShareholDerS

on behalf of the Board of Directors, I am presenting the 2014 annual report and 
Financial Statements for hawkley oil & Gas limited.

It has been a difficult and frustrating year for hawkley and the broader investment 
market, particularly with the geo-political events that have unfolded in ukraine. 
against this backdrop, we have maintained reasonably stable production and 
continued to be cash flow positive. I am pleased to outline our achievements for 
2013-2014 and the steps we have taken to improve the Company’s position.

OpERATIONS
Fortunately, the political turmoil in ukraine during 2014 and the hostilities with 
russia and separatist movements in eastern ukraine have not impacted staff 
safety or gas production. there appears to have been a considerable easing 
of tensions and hostilities following the announcement of a ceasefire on 5 September 2014, however, the 
investment in the country continues to be extremely difficult.

the effects of fluctuating exchange rates for the local ukranian currency as a result of the political turmoil have 
been mitigated due to gas sales being based on uS$ prices, however cashflows and profit margins have been 
impacted by strict capital controls introduced by the ukraine Government and a temporary hike in gas royalty 
rates. the Government has stated that the royalty rates will return to the previous levels from 1 January 2015 
although this is not certain.

the Company’s gas plant commissioned in march 2013 and located only eight kilometres from the 201 well 
continued to operate with high reliability during the 2014 financial year, providing certainty and security around 
our ability to be a reliable supplier to our customers.

During the financial year, the Sorochynska-201 well produced 0.80 Bcf gas and 18,776 Bbls condensate. this 
represents an average of 2.2 mmscf gas and 51.4 Bbls condensate per day. Since Sorochynska-201’s first 
production in February 2011, it has produced 5.46 Bcf gas and 169,530 Bbls condensate.

total income for the financial year was uS$8.3 million, representing a gross profit margin of 11%. at 30 June 
hawkley held uS$0.7 million in cash with no debt. hawkley is in a strong position to withstand difficult market 
conditions and continue to pursue exploration activities and corporate opportunities in an efficient and 
prudent manner.

CORpORATE ACTIVITIES
During the year, hawkley actively sought and assessed potential opportunities to grow and diversify its business. 
In april 2014, the Company announced that it had been unsuccessful in its bids with azimuth for myanmar off-
shore oil blocks. 

a number of potential new projects were assessed during the year, however, for various reasons no acquisition 
were concluded. 

on 14 october 2014, hawkley announced the proposed sale of all its subsidiaries, which control all its ukraine 
assets, to Black Star petroleum limited (aSx: BSp) (“BlackStar”). the proposed sale is subject to satisfactory 
due diligence by both parties and obtaining requisite shareholder and regulatory approvals. BlackStar is an 
aSx-listed oil exploration and development company with a 73.07% working interest in an oil project in Banner 
County, nebraska uSa. the nebraska oil project has the potential for early production and revenue and 
provides geographic and project diversification for hawkley shareholders.

hawkley welcomed mr Bill Foster to its Board in September 2013, replacing mr David riekie. mr Foster’s technical 
and commercial skills and 40 years of experience in the oil and gas industry will provide invaluable expertise 
to hawkley as it continues to evaluate and advance growth opportunities. Following the announcement of the 
proposed sale to BlackStar, hawkley announced the appointment of mr anthony reilly to the board and the 
resignations of its london-based directors: mr richard reavley, mr Graham lyon and lord risby.

the Company also successfully implemented cash management and cost reduction strategies including the 
closure of the london corporate office, and reductions in overheads, staff and management costs.
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 ChaIrman’SREpORT (CONTINUEd)

OUTLOOK
hawkley is seeking joint venture or farm in opportunities to continue exploration on all 3 licences it currently 
holds in ukraine. the current state of equity markets dictates that a preferred route to growth in new areas 
will most likely be through project-level partnerships with cornerstone investors. the Company’s strategy is to 
maintain a low cost structure whilst continuing to pursue joint venture and merger opportunities. 

I would like to extend my thanks to all our employees and directors for their contribution and all our shareholders 
for their support in 2013-2014. In particular, I would like to acknowledge the contributions of the outgoing 
directors. 

Glenn Featherby
ChaIrman

 KeYHIGHLIGHTS
•	 Successful	installation	and	commissioning	of	compression	on	 

Sorochysnka-201 well

•	 Implementation	of	cost	reduction	strategies	including	closure	of	London	
office, management reductions and Board restructure

•	 Stable	production	and	cash	flow	from	Sorochynska-201

•	 Announcement	of	proposed	sale	of	Ukraine	assets	to	BlackStar
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hawkley’s projects are situated in the Dnieper-Donets Basin, which contains the bulk of ukraine’s proven 
hydrocarbon reserves and current production from gas and gas condensate fields.
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 operatIonSREVIEw
hawkley oil & Gas limited, listed on the australian Securities exchange, is an exploration, development and 
production company with 100 per cent owned assets in ukraine’s prolific Dnieper-Donets Basin. With a focus on 
emerging markets, hawkley’s vision is to create a world-class independent oil and gas company with a portfolio 
of quality producing assets in world leading hydrocarbon basins.

the Company’s holdings include the producing Sorochynska asset, with a 20-year production licence; the 
Stoliarovska asset, with a 20-year production licence, the Chernetska asset, with a five-year exploration and 
pilot production licence; and a 100% owned gas plant.

During the June quarter, hawkley completed the installation and commissioning of gas compression at the 
Sorochynska-201 well with minimal disruption to production. post commissioning, production has stabilised at 
2.1 mmscfgpd and 40 barrels of condensate per day.

the company continued to achieve strong production from the Sorochynska-201 well, which produce 0.80 Bcf 
gas and 18,776 Bbls condensate during the financial year. this represents an average of 2.2 mmscf gas and 51.4 
Bbls condensate per day. From Sorochynska-201’s first production in February 2011 through to august 2014, it 
has produced 5.46 Bcf gas and 169,530 Bbls condensate.

Given the scale of the geo-political events occurring in the ukraine this year, hawkley is thankful that all staff 
remain safe and that there has been minimal impact on the Company’s ukranian operations. receipts for gas 
and condensate sales are uS dollar denominated which mitigates ongoing currency risk. Capital controls 
established by the ukranian government remain in place in an effort to safeguard the economy and protect 
foreign exchange reserves and cash flows and operating margins have been impacted by temporary increases 
in royalty rates which are expected to return to normal on 1 January 2015.

With markets currently assigning little or no value to exploration acreage, hawkley’s business development 
strategy has focused on maximizing value from its current assets through joint venture and farm in activity and 
pursuing opportunities that can be accessed without the need to raise significant acquisition capital. the focus 
was on low cost of entry opportunities such as licensing rounds, production or near term production assets 
where a funding partner can provide development capital and where the Company’s Board and management 
can leverage significant local knowledge to bring distressed or non-core assets into the portfolio.

Following the escalation of political tensions and conflict between ukraine and russia, the Board placed a 
greater interest on opportunities outside the region to provide geographic and political diversity. the Company 
teamed with azimuth to bid on offshore blocks in myanmar in 2014 but were not successful in their applications.

on 14 october 2014, the Company announced that it had entered into a binding terms sheet for the proposed 
sale of hawkley’s four wholly owned subsidiaries, which control all of hawkley’s ukraine operations, to Black Star 
petroleum limited (“BlackStar”, aSx: BSp). the proposed sale is subject to a number of standard conditions, 
including completion of due diligence by both parties and obtaining shareholder and regulatory approvals. the 
consideration to be paid by BlackStar to hawkley will be 600,000,000 fully paid BlackStar ordinary shares, which 
will be distributed directly to hawkley shareholders.

BlackStar is a Western australian based oil exploration and development company listed on the aSx. BlackStar 
has a 73.07% working interest in an oil project covering approximately 10,000 acres in Banner County, nebraska 
uSa. the nebraska oil project represents potential for growth through both vertical and horizontal fracture 
stimulated wells. the company plans to complete a third well on its leases, further testing the niobara and Codell 
Formations with a full core test. the well is currently permitted and can commence in the coming months. this 
will enable BlackStar to fracture stimulate a total of three wells with initial production anticipated soon after.

Following completion of the proposed sale, hawkley shareholders will hold approximately 50% of BlackStar. 
hawkley shareholders will continue to hold their respective hawkley shareholdings. hawkley will continue to be 
listed on the aSx and opportunities will be sought for the Company. these may comprise projects in the oil and 
gas sector or a complete change in direction may be appropriate depending on what is in the best interests of 
shareholders. the costs of maintaining the Company until its future is determined will be kept at a minimum.

mr Bill Foster joined the hawkley Board in September 2013 as an australian-based non-executive Director. 
mr Foster is a petroleum engineer with more than forty years’ experience in the oil and gas industry specialising 
in operational management, exploration, business development and corporate strategy. he brings considerable 
technical and commercial expertise and will strengthen and complement the Board’s ongoing assessment of 
new opportunities.
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 operatIonSREVIEw (CONTINUEd)

as part of restructuring following the announcement of the proposed divestment of hawkley’s subsidiaries 
to BlackStar, mr anthony reilly joined the Board on 14 october 2014 as an australian-based non-executive 
Director. mr reilly has over 20 years experience in financial markets, financial risk management and corporate 
finance and brings considerable industry experience to hawkley. at the same time, the london-based directors: 
richard reavley, Graham lyon and lord richard risby resigned from their positions on the Board.

hawkley implemented cost reductions during the year to minimise overheads and optimise management of 
its working capital. these measures included the closure of the london corporate office and reductions in 
overhead staff. Further savings will result from the above restructuring of the Board and management.

UKRAINE
ukraine is a modern european country with a clear policy to attract oil and gas investment and expertise.

the oil and gas-rich country has a long history of petroleum exploration, development and production.

there is strong local demand for energy with ukraine listed as europe’s fourth largest gas market at approximately 
2.0 tcf per year. It is europe’s third largest gas producer at approximately 706 Bcf per year.

ukraine is the main distribution route for gas from russia and Central asia to the west, and a network of major 
gas trunk lines crosses the area. a pipeline crosses the Chernetska licence and another passes within 30km. 
the environment supports both upstream and downstream developments through excellent access to local 
infrastructure and boasts a range of experienced suppliers, service providers and equipment.

recent geo-political events have severely restricted the investment climate in ukraine, however, it is envisaged 
that the situation will revert to normality in the not-too-distant future.

hawkley has extensive operating experience in the ukraine and has mitigated in-country risk by participating 
at a 100 per cent working interest on all of its permits. a strong local team of highly experienced ukrainian staff 
and managers in the Kiev office and the site locations where the drilling and production activities are taking 
place, ensure that production is maintained and that performance of the drilling activities meet expectations.
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 reServeSSUmmARy
(as of 13 october 2014)

aGr-traCS was commissioned to review and revise hawkely’s Sorochynska B18 reserves as of end of financial 
year 2014.

the 2013 aGr traCS reserves estimates dated 1st July 2013 were adjusted for the production of 0.8 BCF gas 
and 18.8 mstb condensate over the year 1/7/2013 to 30/6/2014 inclusive (see table 1 ). Based on the additional 
production data received, revised forward production forecasts from 1/7/2014 were generated. the new 2014 
aGr reserves estimates and the reconciliations with the 2013 estimates are summarised for gas and condensate 
in table 2. the reconciliation is done solely on the B-18 upper sand in the eastern block where the producing 
well Sor-201 is located. a compressor was installed at the Sor-201 well site and became operational in april 2014, 
thus the forward production forecasts take this into account.

1/7/2013 RESERVES
GAS VOLUmES, BCF CONdENSATE VOLUmES, mSTB

1p 2p 3p 1p 2p 3p

1/7/2013 Reserves estimates (AGR TRACS)

Cut-off date 30/6/2016 30/11/2020 31/10/2022 30/6/2016 30/11/2020 31/10/2022

2013 reserves 
(remaining volumes)

1.62 3.78 4.75 25.0 41.0 53.0

production 1/7/2013 to 30/6/2014

prod. 1/7/2013 to 
30/6/2014

0.80 18.8

1/7/2013 Reserves updated with 1/7/2013 to 30/6/2014 production (i.e. brought to 1/7/2014)

1/7/2013 updated 
reserves (remaining 
volumes per 1/7/2014 )

0.82 2.98 3.95 6.2 22.2 34.2

table 1: 1/7/2013 aGr traCS reserves estimates updated with 1/7/2013 to 30/6/2014 production

dESCRIpTION
GAS VOLUmES, BCF CONdENSATE VOLUmES, mSTB

1p 2p 3p 1p 2p 3p

1/7/2014 reserves 1.06 1.83 2.88 19.1 30.6 42.4

1/7/2013 reserves updated 
with 1/7/2013 to 30/6/2014 
production

0.82 2.98 3.95 6.2 22.2 34.2

1/7/2014 increase (+ve) or 
decrease (-ve) over 1/7/2013 
estimates

+0.24 -1.15 -1.17 +12.9 +8.4 +8.2

table 2: 2014 vs. 2013 reconciliation of Sorochynska (Sor-201) gas and cond. reserves

GAS RESERVES
the latest 2014 forecast of 1p estimate of remaining reserves is slightly larger than the adjusted 2013 1p estimate, 
but the 2014 2p and 3p estimates of remaining gas reserves are less than the corresponding adjusted 2013 
reserves the estimates of 2p and 3p gas in 2013 assumed higher initial gas rates after the planned compressor 
start than the initial gas rates actually achieved in april 2014 when the compressor became operational.
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 reServeSSUmmARy (CONTINUEd)
(as of 13 october 2014)

CONdENSATE RESERVES
the latest condensate production forecast is based on the single relationship of the CGr (Condensate Gas 
ratio) with cumulative gas production. the CGr was applied to the forecast gas production rates to derive 
condensate production rates for each of the three cases, while the aGr traCS 2013 estimate assumed more 
pessimistic distinct relationships for the 1p, 2p and 3p condensate forecasts.

COmpETENT pERSONS STATEmENT
aGr traCS International ltd is an independent consultancy specialising in petroleum reservoir evaluation and 
economic analysis. the project was managed and signed off by nigel Blott (m.eng.), a traCS manager. mr. 
Blott, a petroleum engineer and Spe member, has 30+ years experience from the middle east, South-east asia, 
and nW europe. aGr traCS International limited has conducted valuations for many energy companies and 
financial institutions.
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 DIreCtorS’REpORT
dIRECTORS
the names of the directors in office at any time during, or since the end of, the year are:

NAmES pOSITION AppOINTEd/RESIGNEd
mr Glenn Featherby executive Chairman

mr David riekie non-executive Director resigned 17 September 2013

mr richard reavley Chief executive officer and 
executive Director

lord richard risby non-executive Director

mr Graham lyon non-executive Director

Bill Foster non-executive Director appointed 16 September 2013

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise 
stated.

COmpANy SECRETARy
mr murray Wylie was appointed on 3 may 2013. he has more than 30 years’ experience in administrative and 
accounting roles in both the public and private sectors. mr Wylie holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree and is 
a Chartered Secretary. he also holds Company Secretary positions with two other listed companies.

pRINCIpAL ACTIVITIES
the following principal activities occurred during the financial year:
•	 oil and gas exploration in ukraine; and
•	 production of gas and condensate from the Group’s production well in Sorochynska.

OpERATING RESULTS ANd REVIEw OF OpERATIONS FOR THE yEAR
the consolidated loss of the Group for the financial year after providing for income tax amounted to $23,535,043 
(2013: $6,678,738). this represented a $16,856,305 decrease from the financial year ended 30 June 2013. this was 
primarily due to the impairment of the Chernetska-1 well ($9,276,889), a write down of inventory ($438,394) and 
a write down of the Sorochynska CGu ($2,994,466).

Further discussion on the Group’s operations now follows.

SOROCHyNSKA LICENCE
During the 2014 financial year, hawkley reported continuing successful production from the Sorochynska 201 
well, with average daily production of 2.2 mmscf gas and 49 barrels of condensate, totaling 0.80 Bcf gas and

17,976 Bbls condensate during the year.

Since the well commenced production in February 2011, cumulative production to august 31st 2014 was 5.46 Bcf 
and 169,530 Bbls of gas and condensate respectively.

In order to maximise recovery from the field hawkley undertook the installation of a compressor which was 
commissioned in april 2014 with only minor interruptions to production during installation. post commissioning, 
production has stabilised at 2.1 mmscf gas per day and 40 barrels of condensate per day.

the 202 well, although confirming the presence of hydrocarbons, proved to be non-commercial and was 
suspended, pending abandonment, in 2013, with the capitalised exploration costs being written off during 
the period. analysis of the interpreted Sorochynska 3D data set, along with receipt of the new reserves report, 
resulted in the Company deciding to defer the drilling of the anticipated third development well, Sorochynskaya 
203, and concentrating on compression installation as an alternative to incurring significant drilling costs.

the “eurocrimea” gas plant remedial works, including installation of government mandated metering equipment, 
were largely completed by year end and, as a result of exiting from third party gas and gas condensate treatment 
contracts, allowed a significant de risking of the treatment processes and reduction of gas and gas condensate 
treatment costs. the Sorochynskaya gas plant has operated at an average 99%+ uptime.
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OpERATING RESULTS ANd REVIEw OF OpERATIONS FOR THE yEAR (CONTINUEd)

CHERNETSKA LICENCE
technical evaluation of seismic data and testing from the Chernetska-1 well on the Chernetskaya license 
continues, with farm out options being considered to further investigate the demonstrated exploration potential 
of the licence.

STOLIAROVSKA LICENCE
In march 2013, hawkley commenced funding of activities on the 20 year Stolyarivska production licence. the 
licence which covers an area of some 47 km2 is located approximately 25 km east-southeast of romny in Sum’ska 
oblast, 225 km east of Kyiv.

the licence is covered with a relatively close spaced irregular grid of mixed vintage 2D seismic lines. In 2013 
ukrgeofizika was contracted to reprocess and reinterpret the 2D seismic data set. ukrgeofizika’s reprocessing 
and interpretation report was received in December 2013 and has been reviewed by hawkley’s technical team.

hawkley remains excited by the prospectivity in the block and is considering farm out options in the short to 
medium term.

GEOpOLITICAL EVENTS
hawkley’s gas production at the Sorochynska production licence has continued to operate on a normal basis 
with no impact on production resulting from the geo-political conflict between ukraine and russia. the Kiev

office remains open and fully functional with all staff remaining safe and continuing in their respective roles.

the ukrainian national Bank has implemented temporary capital controls to limit withdrawals from the country’s 
banking system. the Company has extended cost control measures to minimise the impact. the situation in 
ukraine has impacted the ukrainian currency however this is somewhat mitigated by the fact that gas and liquids 
prices are denominated in uS dollars.

In august 2014, the ukrainian Government passed emergency budget legislation to significantly increase 
production taxes for independent oil and gas companies from august 1st to December 31st 2014. the royalty 
rates for gas has approximately doubled to 55%. It is currently anticipated that the taxes will revert to previous 
levels at the end of this period.

NEw VENTURES
During the year, new opportunities within ukraine, russia and other FSu countries were reviewed along with 
continuing efforts to secure new business opportunities in myanmar and the wider asian region. In march 2014 
the Company was unsuccessful in securing the three shallow water licenses in myanmar that formed part of the 
bid in partnership with azimuth resources, with the majority of the licenses being awarded to major global 
energy companies including Chevron, Shell and Woodside.

the company is currently considering two specific corporate transactions with the aim of providing diversification 
and a new direction for the company. Further details will be made in due course.

dIVIdENdS pAId OR RECOmmENdEd
no dividends were paid or declared since the start of the financial year. no recommendation for payment of 
dividends has been made.

FINANCIAL pOSITION
the net assets of the Group have decreased by $20,837,143 from 30 June 2013 to $7,573,144 in 2014. the decrease 
has largely resulted from the following factors:
•	 Impairment of significant exploration and evaluation assets including Chernetska -1 well;
•	 Impairment of the Sorochynska cash generating unit;
•	 profitable gas and condensate production in ukraine;
•	 unfavorable movements in foreign exchange rates; and
•	 Continued exploration for oil and gas reserves.
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SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN STATE OF AFFAIRS
no significant changes in the Group’s state of affairs occurred during the financial year.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE dATE 
other than as reported below, no matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which 
significantly affected or could significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or 
the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.

In august 2014, the ukrainian Government passed emergency budget legislation to significantly increase 
production taxes for independent oil and gas companies from august 1st to December 31st 2014. the royalty 
rates for gas has approximately doubled to 55%. It is currently anticipated that the taxes will revert to previous 
levels at the end of this period.

FUTURE dEVELOpmENTS
the likely developments in the operations of the Group and the expected results of those operations in future 
financial years are the continued production of and exploration for oil and gas in ukraine.

ENVIRONmENTAL ISSUES
the Group’s operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulations under a law of the 
Commonwealth or of a state or territory.

INFORmATION ON dIRECTORS (CONTINUEd)
mr Glenn Featherby executive Chairman

experience mr Featherby has over 30 years’ experience in corporate advisory work 
and has worked extensively in the resources sector. he worked with KpmG 
in perth and london before establishing his own accounting practice 
in perth in 1997. mr Featherby is Chairman of Forte energy limited, a 
resources company with assets in africa that is dual listed on the aSx and 
aIm markets. he has previously been Finance Director of aIm-listed regal 
petroleum plc and non-executive Director of Canadian and aIm-listed 
european Goldfields limited.

Interest in Shares and options 26,239,377 ordinary shares

Directorships held in other 
listed entities during the three 
years prior to the current year

Forte energy limited 
patagonia Gold plc 
ochre Group holdings limited

Special duties audit committee, remuneration committee

mr david Riekie non-executive Director

(resigned 17 September 2013)

experience mr riekie has more than 14 years experience as an executive Director of a 
boutique corporate advisory company. During this period mr riekie held a 
variety of non-executive board positions, either as non-executive Chairman 
or non-executive Director for aSx listed companies in both the resource 
and industrial sectors. mr riekie has experience in the resource sector at the 
exploration, pre-production and production level for oil and gas, precious 
and base metals and mineral sands both within australia and overseas. mr 
riekie is a Chartered accountant, a member of the Institute of Company 
Directors and holds a Bachelor of economics and a Diploma of accounting.

Directorships held in other 
listed entities during the three 
years prior to the current year

uranio limited (resigned 20 July 2009) 
avonlea minerals limited
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INFORmATION ON dIRECTORS (CONTINUEd)
mr Richard Reavley Chief executive officer and executive Director

experience mr reavley has over 10 years experience working in london’s financial sector 
and the natural resource industry. a founding member of Janita Global 
limited, mr reavley was appointed managing Director in January 2007. mr 
reavley has relevant experience managing oil and gas assets in europe 
and Central asia. he has public company experience as a former director 
of Goldbelt resources ltd, a tSx listed company. mr reavley has a BSc in 
Chemistry from the university of Kent and an mBa (Finance) from london 
Business School.

Interest in Shares and options 12,760,410 ordinary shares.

Directorships held in other 
listed entities during the three 
years prior to the current year

nil

Special duties reserves committee

Lord Richard Risby non-executive Director

experience lord risby has over 20 years experience in the financial services sector. 
previously of merrill lynch, e F hutton International associates, lehman 
Brothers and Furman Selz, lord risby had a variety of director positions 
covering a comprehensive range of investment services to institutional 
clients. lord risby has been the Chairman of the British ukrainian Society for 
5 years and was appointed to the house of lords in november 2010.

Interest in Shares and options 1,000,000 options exercisable at 26 cents expiring on or before 30 July 
2015 and 1,000,000 options exercisable at 10 cents expiring on or before 30 
September 2018.

Directorships held in other 
listed entities during the three 
years prior to the current year

nil

Special duties audit committee, remuneration committee (Chair)

mr Graham Lyon non-executive Director

experience mr Graham lyon has over 30 years of experience in the oil and gas industry, 
working for a wide range of listed and private companies. Graham has a 
BSc eng (hons) in petroleum engineering from Imperial College london. he 
started his career with Chevron before moving to Shell as sub surface team 
leader and as project petroleum engineer. Graham then spent 14 years with 
Deminex in a series of technical leadership roles in the uK, Germany and 
egypt, and its successor, veba oil and Gas, including regional manager for 
the Caspian and middle east, thereafter he was heavily involved with the 
sale of the company to petro-Canada. Graham remained with petro-Canada 
for a further 7 years holding roles culminating in vice president Strategy and 
Business Development, International and offshore. Within the last 5 years 
Graham has held the position of president and Chief executive officer of 
mena hydrocarbons Inc, a tSx-v listed energy company, with assets in egypt 
and Syria and is currently a non-executive Director at range resources ltd, 
an aIm and aSx listed energy company, and a Director at tarbagatay munay 
llp a private Kazakhstani oil and gas company and Soncer ltd

Interest in Shares and options 1,000,000 options exercisable at 26 cents expiring on or before 30 July 
2015 and 2,000,000 options exercisable at 10 cents expiring on or before 30 
September 2018.

Directorships held in other 
listed entities during the three 
years prior to the current year

mena hydrocarbons Inc 
range resources limited

Special duties reserves committee (Chair), remuneration committee
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INFORmATION ON dIRECTORS (CONTINUEd)
mr Bill Foster non-executive Director

(appointed 17 September 2013)

experience mr Foster is an engineer with extensive technical, commercial and 
managerial experience in the energy industry over a 40 year period. he has 
been an advisor to a major Japanese trading company for the last 20 years 
in the development of their global e&p and lnG activities and has spent 
time prior to this working internationally in the development of a number of 
energy companies.

Interest in Shares and options 2,000,000 options exercisable at 10 cents expiring on or before 30 
September 2018.

Directorships held in other 
listed entities during the three 
years prior to the current year

Carnarvon petroleum limited

Special duties audit committee (Chair), reserves committee

mEETINGS OF dIRECTORS
During the financial year, 4 meetings of directors (including committees of directors) were held. attendances by 
each director during the year were as follows:

dIRECTORS’ 
mEETINGS

REmUNERATION 
COmmITTEE

AUdIT
COmmITTEE

RESERVES
COmmITTEE

NUmBER 
ELIGIBLE 

TO 
ATTENd

NUmBER 
ATTENdEd

NUmBER 
ELIGIBLE 

TO 
ATTENd

NUmBER 
ATTENdEd

NUmBER 
ELIGIBLE 

TO 
ATTENd

NUmBER 
ATTENdEd

NUmBER 
ELIGIBLE 

TO 
ATTENd

NUmBER 
ATTENdEd

mr Glenn 
Featherby 4 4 – – – – – –

mr 
richard 
reavley

4 4 – – – – 2 2

lord 
richard 
risby

4 2 – – – – – –

mr 
Graham 
lyon

4 4 – – – – 2 2

mr Bill 
Foster 4 4 – – – – 1 1

INdEmNIFyING OFFICERS OR AUdITORS
the Group has paid premiums to insure directors against liabilities for costs and expenses incurred by them in 
defending legal proceedings arising from their conduct while acting in the capacity of director of the Group, 
other than conduct involving a willful breach of duty in relation to the Group.

to the extent permitted by law, the Company has agreed to indemnify its auditors, ernst & Young, as part of 
the terms of its audit engagement agreement, against claims made by third parties arising from the audit (for 
an unspecified amount). no payment has been made to indemnify ernst & Young during or since the end of the 
financial year.
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OpTIONS/pERFORmANCE RIGHTS
at the date of this report, there are 16,000,000 unissued ordinary shares of hawkley oil and Gas limited under 
option. there are also 1,000,000 performance rights on issue.

GRANT dATE dATE OF ExpIRy ExERCISE pRICE
NUmBER UNdER 

OpTION

31 october 2012 30 June 2015 0.26 2,000,000

17 January 2014 30 September 2018 0.10 9,000,000

27 December 2013 30 September 2018 0.10 5,000,000

16,000,000

During the year ended 30 June 2014, no ordinary shares of hawkley oil and Gas limited were issued on the 
exercise of options.

pROCEEdINGS ON BEHALF OF COmpANy
no person has applied for leave of Court to bring proceedings on behalf of the Group or intervene in any 
proceedings to which the Group is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Group for all 
or any part of those proceedings.

the Group was not a party to any such proceedings during the financial year.

NON‑AUdIT SERVICES
the Board of Directors, in accordance with advice from the audit committee, is satisfied that the provision 
of non-audit services during the financial year is compatible with the general standard of independence for 
auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. the directors are satisfied that the services disclosed below did 
not compromise the external auditor’s independence for the following reasons:
•	 all non-audit services are reviewed and approved by the audit committee prior to commencement to ensure 

they do not adversely affect the integrity and objectivity of the auditor; and
•	 the nature of the services provided do not compromise the general principles relating to auditor independence 

in accordance with apeS 110: Code of ethics for professional accountants set by the accounting professional 
and ethical Standards Board.

the following fees were paid to the external auditors during the year ended 30 June 2014:

2014
$

2013
$

auditing or reviewing the financial report 111,191 93,480

taxation services – 25,910

111,191 119,390

AUdITOR’S INdEpENdENCE dECLARATION
the auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended 30 June 2014 has been received and can be found 
on page 27 of the financial report.
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REmUNERATION REpORT (AUdITEd)

REmUNERATION pOLICy
the performance of the Group depends upon the quality of its Directors and other key management personnel.

the Group’s broad remuneration policy is to ensure the remuneration package properly reflects the person’s 
duties and responsibilities and that remuneration is competitive in attracting, retaining and motivating people 
of the highest quality.

Remuneration Committee
the Board of Directors is responsible for determining and reviewing compensation arrangements for the 
executive Directors and the senior management team.

the remuneration Committee assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of emoluments 
(including option allocations) of such officers on a periodic basis by reference to the relevant employment 
market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a 
high quality Board and key management personnel.

Executive Remuneration Structure
to assist in achieving these objectives, the remuneration Committee links the nature and amount of executive 
Directors’ and officers’ emoluments (including option allocations) to the Group’s financial and operational 
performance. all Directors and other key management personnel will have the opportunity to qualify for 
participation in the employee Share option plan.

Fixed Remuneration

the level of fixed remuneration is set so as to provide a base level of remuneration, which is both appropriate to 
the position and is competitive in the market.

Fixed remuneration is reviewed annually by the remuneration Committee and the process consists of a review 
of Company-wide, business unit and individual performance, relevant comparative remuneration in the market 
and internal and, where appropriate, external advice on policies and practices.

Senior executives are given the opportunity to receive their fixed (primary) remuneration in a variety of forms 
including cash and additional superannuation, which is provided by salary sacrifice. It is intended that the 
manner of payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient without creating undue cost for the Group.

Variable Remuneration – Long Term Incentive (LTI)

the ltI plan aims to reward executives in a manner which aligns this element of remuneration with the creation 
of shareholder wealth. there are no performance criteria for the grant of options, but rather are at the discretion 
of the Board.

as such, ltI grants are only made to executives who are able to influence the generation of shareholder wealth 
and thus have a direct impact on the Group’s performance. ltI grants to executives are delivered in the form of 
options or rights.

usually options issued under the employee share option plan, including executive options, generally have a one 
to two year vesting period. If an executive ceases employment with the Group prior to the options vesting, then 
those options are forfeited. vested options are forfeited if they are not exercised within one month upon an 
executive ceasing employment with the Group, or six months in special circumstances as deemed appropriate 
by Board of Directors.

options are granted under the plan for no consideration. they also carry no dividend or voting rights.

When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share in hawkley oil and Gas limited.

the plan rules do not contain a restriction on removing the ‘at risk’ aspect of the instruments granted to executives. 
however, the Directors, at their discretion imposed such a restriction. Consequently plan participants may not 
enter into any transaction designed to remove the ‘at risk’ aspect of an instrument before it vests.
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REmUNERATION REpORT (AUdITEd) (CONTINUEd)

REmUNERATION pOLICy (CONTINUEd)
During the previous and current financial year options were granted as equity compensation benefits by 
either shareholder approval or under the employee Share option plan (eSop) to certain Directors and key 
management personnel as disclosed below. the options were issued free of charge. each option entitles the 
holder to subscribe for one fully paid ordinary share in the entity.

to date, options over shares have been issued to directors and executives as part of their remuneration packages 
and have been subject to shareholder’s approval. there are no performance hurdles attaching to the options 
granted other than service vesting conditions.

packages are tailored to individual employees in order to provide maximum encouragement to perform for 
the benefit of shareholders and are designed to reflect labour demands. the aim of individual remuneration 
packages is to provide a balance between the immediate and long-term goals of the Group.

the Group also remunerates key management personnel via the granting of performance rights under the 
performance rights plan approved a the general meeting of 2 June 2011. the performance rights, once vested, 
entitle the key management personnel to share in the Company.

Non‑executive director Remuneration
the Board seeks to aggregate remuneration at a level which provides the Group the ability to attract and retain 
Directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost which is acceptable to shareholders.

non-executive Director remuneration is determined within the aggregate Directors fee pool, which was 
increased from $200,000 to $500,000 following approval by shareholders at an eGm held on 2 June 2011.

each Director receives a fixed fee for being a Director of the Company. no additional fees are paid for Board 
committee membership. Should a Director be requested by the Chairman to undertake review work additional 
to normal Board and Board committee work, the Director receives additional fees based on commercial hourly 
rates. however, the additional fees will not result in the aggregate amount of Directors’ fees approved by 
shareholders being exceeded.

Remuneration, Company performance and Shareholder wealth
the development of remuneration policies and structures are considered in relation to the effect on Group 
performance and shareholder wealth. they are designed by the Board to align Director and executive behaviours 
with improving Group performance and, ultimately, shareholder wealth.

looking forward, the Group aims to advance shareholder wealth through the successful production of oil and 
gas assets.

the following table shows the net profit/(loss) for the last five years for the listed entity, as well as the share 
prices at the end of the respective financial years.

2010
$

2011
$

2012
$

2013
$

2014
$

net profit/(loss) (6,008,551) (1,396,369) 6,775,332 (6,678,738) (20,539,660)

Share price at year-end 0.155 0.325 0.165 0.035 0.017
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EmpLOymENT dETAILS OF mEmBERS OF KEy mANAGEmENT pERSONNEL 
ANd OTHER ExECUTIVES
the following table provides employment details of persons who were, during the financial year and members 
of key management personnel of the Group. the table also illustrates the proportion of remuneration that 
was performance and non-performance based and the proportion of remuneration received in the form of 
options/rights.

pROpORTIONS OF ELEmENTS 
OF REmUNERATION NOT 

RELATEd TO pERFORmANCE

KEy 
mANAGEmENT 

pERSONNEL

pOSITION HELd 
AS AT 30 JUNE 

2014

CONTRACT 
dETAILS 

(dURATION & 
TERmINATION)

OpTIONS/ 
RIGHTS

%

FIxEd 
SALARy/FEES

%
TOTAL

%

mr Glenn 
Featherby

executive 
Chairman

on going contract 
with no notice 
period

– 100 100

mr richard reavley Chief executive 
officer and 
executive 
Director

on going contract 
with 3 month 
notice period

– 100 100

lord richard risby non-executive 
Director

on going contract 
with no notice 
period

14 86 100

mr Graham lyon non-executive 
Director

on going contract 
with no notice 
period

18 82 100

mr Bill Foster non-executive 
Director

on going contract 
with no notice 
period

4 96 100

mr murray Wylie Company 
Secretary

on going contract 
with no notice 
period.

– 100 100

the employment terms and conditions of key management personnel and group executives are formalised in 
contracts of employment.

terms of employment require that the relevant group entity provide an executive contracted person with a 
minimum of 3 months notice prior to termination of contract. no termination payments are generally payable. 
a contracted person deemed employed on a permanent basis may terminate their employment by providing 
at least 3 months notice. termination payments are not payable on resignation or under the circumstances of 
unsatisfactory performance. 
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REmUNERATION dETAILS FOR THE yEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2014
the following table of benefits and payment details, in respect to the financial year, the components of 
remuneration for each member of the key management personnel of the Group:

table of Benefits and payments for the Year ended 30 June 2014

SHORT‑TERm 
BENEFITS (I)

pOST‑ 
EmpLOy mENT 

BENEFITS

EQUITy‑
SETTLEd 

SHARE‑BASEd 
pAymENTS

SALARy, 
FEES ANd 

LEAVE
$

pENSION 
ANd 

SUpERAN‑
NUATION

$

OpTIONS/
pERFORm‑

ANCE RIGHTS
$

TERmIN‑ 
ATION 

BENEFITS
$

TOTAL
$

directors

mr Glenn 
Featherby

2014
164,845 15,240   180,085

2013 165,138 14,862   180,000

mr David riekie 2014 19,113 1,720   20,833

2013 57,339 5,161   62,500

mr richard 
reavley

2014
501,773    501,773

2013 363,479    363,479

lord richard risby 2014 64,565  4,985  69,550

2013 36,301  48,228  84,529

mr Graham lyon 2014 166,292  9,969  176,261

2013 91,881  48,228  140,109

mr Bill Foster 2014 46,376 4,290 17,084  67,750

2014 962,964 21,250 32,038  1,016,252

2013 714,138 20,023 96,456  830,617

Other Key management personnel

mr Ian hobson 2014      

2013 54,485    54,485

mr murray Wylie 2014 43,935 4,065   48,000

2013 7,086 656   7,742

2014 43,935 4,065   48,000

2013 61,571 656   62,227

the following directors were appointed or resigned during the year or prior year;
– mr Bill Foster (appointed 16 September 2013)
– mr David riekie (resigned 17 September 2013)
(i)  Salary, fees and leave for key management personnel includes $83,528 deferred directors fees (unpaid at 

30 June 2014).
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REmUNERATION dETAILS FOR THE yEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2014 (CONTINUEd)

OpTIONS 
GRANTEd

GRANT dETAILS OVERALL

dATE NO.

VALUE pER 
OpTION
CENTS

(NOTE 1)
VESTEd

%
UNVESTEd

%
LApSEd

%

Kmp

lord richard 
risby

27 December 
2013 1,000,000 0.850 0 100 0

mr Graham lyon 27 December 
2013 2,000,000 0.850 0 100 0

mr Bill Foster 27 December 
2013 2,000,000 0.850 0 100 0

note 1 options are exercisable at 10 cents on or before 30 September 2018.

the number of options over ordinary shares held by each key management person of the Group during the 
financial year is as follows:

BALANCE 
AT BEGIN‑
NING OF 

yEAR

GRANTEd 
AS 

REmUN‑
ERATION 
dURING 

THE yEAR

ExpIREd 
dURING 

THE yEAR

BALANCE 
ON 

RESIG‑
NATION

BALANCE 
AT ENd 

OF yEAR

VESTEd 
dURING 

THE yEAR

VESTEd 
ANd 

ExERCIS‑
ABLE

VESTEd 
ANd 

UNExER‑
C ISABLE

30 June 2014

mr Glenn 
Featherby – – – – – – – –

mr David 
riekie 3,000,000 – – (3,000,000) – – – –

mr richard 
reavley 4,000,000 – (4,000,000) – – – – –

lord 
richard 
risby 1,000,000 1,000,000 – – 2,000,000 – 1,000,000 –

mr 
Graham 
lyon 1,000,000 2,000,000 – – 3,000,000 – 1,000,000 –

mr Bill 
Foster – 2,000,000 – – 2,000,000 – – –

9,000,000 5,000,000 (4,000,000) (3,000,000) 7,000,000 – 2,000,000 –
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REmUNERATION dETAILS FOR THE yEAR ENdEd 30 JUNE 2014 (CONTINUEd)
the number of ordinary shares in hawkley oil and Gas limited held by each key management person of the 
Group during the financial year is as follows:

BALANCE AT 
BEGINNING 

OF yEAR

GRANTEd 
AS REmUN‑

ERATION 
dURING THE 

yEAR

ISSUEd ON 
ExERCISE 

OF OpTIONS 
dURING THE 

yEAR
BALANCE ON 
RESIGNATION

BALANCE AT 
ENd OF yEAR

30 June 2014

mr Glenn Featherby 26,239,377 – – – 26,239,377

mr David riekie 238,514 – – (238,514) –

mr richard reavley 12,760,410 – – – 12,760,410

lord richard risby – – – – –

mr Graham lyon – – – – –

Bill Foster – – – – –

39,238,301 – – (238,514) 38,999,787

on 29 november 2013, the Group granted 5,000,000 options to directors. lord risby, a director of the company, 
received 1,000,000 options, mr lyon received 2,000,000 options and mr Foster received 2,000,000 options. 
using the Black and Scholes option valuation methodology, the fair value of the options issued were calculated 
using the following inputs.

number of options: 5,000,000 risk free interest rate: 3.43%

exercise price: $0.10 Share price at grant date: $0.019

expected exercise date: 30 September 2018 expected volatility 89.7%

each option was valued at $0.0085

Voting and comment made on the Group’s 2013 Annual General meeting
the Group received approximately 98% (2012: 75%) of “yes” votes on its remuneration report for the year ended 
30 June 2013.

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors:

Director: .........................................................................................

mr Glenn Featherby
Dated 30 September 2014
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Hawkley Oil and 
Gas Limited 

In relation to our audit of the financial report of Hawkley Oil and Gas Limited for the financial year ended 
30 June 2014, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional conduct. 
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In relation to our audit of the financial report of Hawkley Oil and Gas Limited for the financial year ended 
30 June 2014, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of the auditor 
independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of professional conduct. 
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Perth 
30 September 2014 
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  ConSolIDateD Statement  
oF COmpREHENSIVE INCOmE

NOTE 2014
$

2013
$

Continuing operations

Sales revenue 8,618,335 14,244,860

other revenue 2(a) 401,138 868,223

Total revenue 9,019,473 15,113,083

Cost of sales (7,992,818) (7,964,094)

Gross profit 1,026,655 7,148,989

other income 2(a) – 5,000

other expenses 2(b) (25,492,862) (14,661,494)

Loss before income taxes (24,466,207) (7,507,505)

Income tax benefit 3(a) 931,164 828,767

Loss from continuing operations (23,535,043) (6,678,738)

Other comprehensive income

Items that may subsequently be reclassified to profit or loss

Foreign currency translation 2,718,624 1,319,685

Total comprehensive income for the year (20,816,419) (5,359,053)

Earnings per share:

Basic earnings (loss) per share 16 (0.08) (0.02)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share 16 (0.08) (0.02)
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NOTE 2014
$

2013
$

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 5 745,318 2,333,977

trade and other receivables 6 2,283,651 1,470,212

Inventories 7 278,427 157,738

other current assets 9 83,735 87,679

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 3,391,131 4,049,606

NON‑CURRENT ASSETS

trade and other receivables 6 11,690 2,219,476

property, plant and equipment 8 2,473,143 5,447,699

Gas properties 11 1,359,384 6,753,742

Deferred exploration and evaluation expenditure 10 1,302,421 12,679,565

TOTAL NON‑CURRENT ASSETS 5,146,638 27,100,482

TOTAL ASSETS 8,537,769 31,150,088

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

trade and other payables 12 734,016 1,224,997

Current tax payable – 33,489

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 734,016 1,258,486

NON‑CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred tax liability 4 – 1,166,207

provisions 13 230,609 315,108

TOTAL NON‑CURRENT LIABILITIES 230,609 1,481,315

TOTAL LIABILITIES 964,625 2,739,801

NET ASSETS 7,573,144 28,410,287

EQUITy

Issued capital 14 38,072,051 38,072,051

reserves 15 8,656,773 5,958,873

accumulated losses (39,155,680) (15,620,637)

TOTAL EQUITy 7,573,144 28,410,287
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 ConSolIDateD Statement oF CHANGES IN EQUITy

ORdINARy 
SHARES

$

RETAINEd 
EARNINGS

$

CONVERT‑
IBLE NOTE 

EQUITy 
RESERVE

$

SHARE 
BASEd 

pAymENT 
RESERVE

$

FOREIGN 
CURRENCy 

TRANS‑
LATION 

RESERVE
$

TOTAL
$

Balance at  
July 1, 2012 37,565,375 (8,941,899) (687,907) 4,782,883 388,828 33,107,280

profit or loss 
attributable to 
members of the 
parent entity – (6,678,738) – – – (6,678,738)

total other 
comprehensive 
income for the year – – – – 1,319,685 1,319,685

– (6,678,738) – – 1,319,685 (5,359,053)

Shares issued during 
the year 412,926 – – – – 412,926

Share based 
payment – – – 249,134 – 249,134

Shares issued on 
exercise of options 93,750 – – (93,750) – –

Sub‑total 506,676 (6,678,738) – 155,384 1,319,685 (4,696,993)

Balance at  
June 30, 2013 38,072,051 (15,620,637) (687,907) 4,938,267 1,708,513 28,410,287

ORdINARy 
SHARES

$

RETAINEd 
EARNINGS

$

CONVERT‑
IBLE NOTE 

EQUITy 
RESERVE

$

SHARE 
BASEd 

pAymENT 
RESERVE

$

FOREIGN 
CURRENCy 

TRANS‑
LATION 

RESERVE
$

TOTAL
$

Balance at  
July 1, 2013 38,072,051 (15,620,637) (687,907) 4,938,267 1,708,513 28,410,287

loss attributable 
to members of the 
parent entity – (23,535,043) – – – (23,535,043)

other 
comprehensive 
income for the year – – – – 2,718,624 2,718,624

Total other 
comprehensive 
income for the year – (23,535,043) – – 2,718,624 (20,816,419)

Share based 
payment – – – (20,724) – (20,724)

– (23,535,043) – (20,724) 2,718,624 (20,837,143)

Balance at  
June 30, 2014 38,072,051 (39,155,680) (687,907) 4,917,543 4,917,543 7,573,144
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 ConSolIDateD Statement oF CASH FLOwS

NOTE 2014
$

2013
$

CASH FROm OpERATING ACTIVITIES:

 receipts from customers 10,051,312 16,302,238

 payments to suppliers and employees (10,383,882) (12,165,915)

 Interest received 362,509 310,406

 Income taxes paid (268,532) (575,148)

net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (238,593) 3,871,581

CASH FLOwS FROm INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

 purchase of property, plant and equipment (1,083,575) (5,092,366)

 payment for exploration expenditure – (3,362,041)

 payment for gas properties (5,060) (284,321)

 payments to other parties – (2,171,419)

net cash used by investing activities (1,088,635) (10,910,147)

CASH FLOwS FROm FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

 proceeds from issue of shares – 436,749

net cash provided by financing activities – 436,749

Foreign exchange differences (261,431) 983,603

net cash increase (decreases) in cash and cash equivalents (1,588,659) (5,618,214)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,333,977 7,952,191

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 5 745,318 2,333,977

this financial report includes the consolidated financial statements and notes of hawkley oil and Gas limited 
and the entities is controlled during the year ended 30 June 2014, and was authorised for issue in accordance 
with a resolution of the Directors on 30 September 2014.
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 noteS to the FINANCIAL STATEmENTS (ContInueD) noteS to the FINANCIAL STATEmENTS

1 SUmmARy OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING pOLICIES
hawkley oil and Gas limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in australia.

the financial report is a general purpose financial statement that has been prepared in accordance with 
australian accounting Standards, australian accounting Interpretations, other authoritative pronouncements 
of the australian accounting Standards Board (“aaSB”) and the Corporations Act 2001. the financial report 
complies with australian accounting Standards and International Financial reporting Standards (‘IFrS’) as issue 
by the International accounting Standards Board.

australian accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the aaSB has concluded would result 
in a financial report containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. 
Compliance with australian accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements and notes also comply 
with International Financial reporting Standards. material accounting policies adopted in the preparation of this 
financial report are presented below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise stated.

the financial report has been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs, modified, where 
applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial 
liabilities.

these financial statements are presented in australian dollars, rounded to the nearest dollar. the overseas 
subsidiaries of the parent have united States dollars or ukraine hryvnia as their functional currency. all other 
companies within the entity have australian dollars as their functional currency.

(A) pRINCIpLES OF CONSOLIdATION
the consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of entities controlled by 
hawkley oil and Gas limited at the end of the reporting period. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, 
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls and investee if and only it the Group has:
•	 power over the investee;
•	 exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
•	 the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns

Where controlled entities have entered or left the Group during the year, the financial performance of those 
entities are included only for the period of the year that they were controlled. a list of controlled entities is 
contained in note 22 to the financial statements.

as at reporting date, the assets and liabilities of all controlled entities have been incorporated into the 
consolidated financial statements as well as their results for the year then ended. Where controlled entities have 
entered (left) the Group during the year, their operating results have been included (excluded) from the date 
control was obtained (ceased).

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all inter-group balances and transactions between entities 
in the Group have been eliminated on consolidation. accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed 
where necessary to ensure consistency with those adopted by the parent entity.

non-controlling interests, being the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to a parent, are 
shown separately within the equity section of the consolidated statement of financial position and consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income. the non-controlling interests in the net assets comprise their interests at 
the date of the original business combination and their share of changes in equity since that date.

Business Combinations
Business combinations occur where an acquirer obtains control over one or more businesses and results in the 
consolidation of its assets and liabilities.

a business combination is accounted for by applying the acquisition method, unless it is a combination 
involving entities or businesses under common control. the acquisition method requires that for each business 
combination one of the combining entities must be identified as the acquirer (i.e. parent entity). the business 
combination will be accounted for as at the acquisition date, which is the date that control over the acquiree 
is obtained by the parent entity. at this date, the parent shall recognise, in the consolidated accounts, and 
subject to certain limited exceptions, the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. In 
addition, contingent liabilities of the acquiree will be recognised where a present obligation has been incurred 
and its fair value can be reliably measured.
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1 SUmmARy OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING pOLICIES (CONTINUEd)

(A) pRINCIpLES OF CONSOLIdATION (CONTINUEd)

Business Combinations (continued)
the acquisition may result in the recognition of goodwill or a gain from a bargain purchase. the method 
adopted for the measurement of goodwill will impact on the measurement of any non-controlling interest to be 
recognised in the acquiree where less than 100% ownership interest is held in the acquiree.

the acquisition date fair value of the consideration transferred for a business combination plus the acquisition 
date fair value of any previously held equity interest shall form the cost of the investment in the separate 
financial statements. Consideration may comprise the sum of the assets transferred by the acquirer, liabilities 
incurred by the acquirer to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the acquirer.

Fair value uplifts in the value of pre-existing equity holdings are taken to the statement of comprehensive income. 
Where changes in the value of such equity holdings had previously been recognised in other comprehensive 
income, such amounts are recycled to profit or loss.

Included in the measurement of consideration transferred is any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. any obligation incurred relating to contingent consideration is classified as either 
a financial liability or equity instrument, depending upon the nature of the arrangement. rights to refunds of 
consideration previously paid are recognised as a receivable. Subsequent to initial recognition, contingent 
consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
equity. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured each reporting period to fair 
value through the statement of comprehensive income unless the change in value can be identified as existing 
at acquisition date.

all transaction costs incurred in relation to the business combination are expensed to the statement of 
comprehensive income.

(B) REVENUE ANd OTHER INCOmE
revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable after taking into account any 
trade discounts and volume rebates allowed. any consideration deferred is treated as the provision of finance 
and is discounted at a rate of interest that is generally accepted in the market for similar arrangements. the 
difference between the amount initially recognised and the amount ultimately received is interest revenue.

revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point of delivery as this corresponds to the transfer of 
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods and the cessation of all involvement in those goods.

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method, which, for floating rate financial assets, 
is the rate inherent in the instrument.

revenue recognition relating to the provision of services is determined with reference to the stage of completion 
of the transaction at the end of the reporting period and where the outcome of the contract can be estimated 
reliably. Stage of completion is determined with reference to the services performed to date as a percentage 
of total anticipated services to be performed. Where the outcome cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is 
recognised only to the extent that related expenditure is recoverable.

all revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GSt).

(C) INCOmE TAx
the income tax expense (revenue) for the year comprises current income tax expense (income) and deferred 
tax expense (income).

Current income tax expense charged to the profit or loss is the tax payable on taxable income calculated using 
applicable income tax rates enacted, or substantively enacted, as at the end of the reporting period. Current tax 
liabilities (assets) are therefore measured at the amounts expected to be paid to (recovered from) the relevant 
taxation authority.

Deferred income tax expense reflects movements in deferred tax asset and deferred tax liability balances during 
the year as well as unused tax losses.
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1 SUmmARy OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING pOLICIES (CONTINUEd)

(C) INCOmE TAx (CONTINUEd)
Current and deferred tax expense (income) is charged or credited directly to equity instead of the profit or loss 
when the tax relates to items that are credited or charged directly to equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are ascertained based on temporary differences arising between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Deferred tax assets also 
result where amounts have been fully expensed but future tax deductions are available. no deferred income tax 
will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or liability, excluding a business combination, where 
there is no effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of 
the reporting period. their measurement also reflects the manner in which management expects to recover or 
settle the carrying amount of the related asset or liability.

Deferred tax assets relating to temporary differences and unused tax losses are recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the benefits of the deferred tax asset can be utilised.

Where temporary differences exist in relation to investments in subsidiaries, branches, associates, and joint 
ventures, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised where the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference can be controlled and it is not probable that the reversal will occur in the foreseeable future.

Current assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists and it is intended 
that net settlement or simultaneous realisation and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where a legally enforceable right of set-off exists, the deferred tax 
assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable 
entity or different taxable entities entities where it is intended that net settlement or simultaneous realisation 
and settlement of the respective asset and liability will occur in future periods in which significant amounts of 
deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be recovered or settled.

the company and its wholly-owned australian subsidiaries have not implemented the tax consolidation legislation.

(d) EmpLOyEE BENEFITS
provision is made for the company’s liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees 
to the end of the reporting period. employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year have been 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled. employee benefits payable later 
than one year have been measured at present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those 
benefits. In determining the liability, consideration is given to employee wage increases and the probability that 
the employee may satisfy vesting requirements. those cashflows are discounted using market yields on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of cashflows.

(E) pROVISIONS
provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past 
events, for which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably 
measured.

Restoration Provisions
the Group recognises any legal or constructive restoration obligation as a liability at its present value at the time a 
legal liability or constructive obligation exists and when a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be 
made. the carrying amount of long lived assets to which the obligation relates is increased by the asset retirement 
obligation cost and amortised over the producing life of the asset. restoration provisions are based on the estimated 
cost of restoration work required at the end of the useful life of producing fields, including removal of facilities and 
equipment required or intended to be removed, together with abandonment of producing wells. these estimates 
of asset retirement obligations are based on current technology, legal requirements and future costs, which have 
been discounted to their present value. In determining the asset retirement obligations, the Group has assumed no 
significant changes will occur in the relevant legislation in relation to restoration of sites in the future.

over time, the liability is accreted to its present value each period based on a risk adjusted pre-tax discount rate 
appropriate to the risks inherent in the liability. the unwinding of the discount rate is recorded within finance 
costs. upon settlement of the liability, the Group either settles the obligation for its recorded amount or incurs 
a gain or loss upon settlement.
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(F) FOREIGN CURRENCy TRANSACTIONS ANd BALANCES
the functional currency of each of the Group’s entities is measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which that entity operates. the consolidated financial statements are presented in australian 
dollars which is the parent entity’s functional and presentation currency. the overseas subsidiaries of the parent 
have united States dollars or ukraine hryvnia as their functional currency. all other companies within the entity 
have australian dollars as their functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate. 
non monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the 
transaction. non monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair 
values were determined.

exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised through the profit or loss, 
except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash flow or net investment hedge.

exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to the 
extent that the gain or loss is directly recognised in equity, otherwise the exchange difference is recognised 
through the profit or loss.

the financial results and position of foreign operations whose functional currency is different from the Group’s 
presentation currency are translated as follows:
•	 assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates prevailing at that reporting date;
•	 income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates for the period; and
•	 retained earnings are translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transaction.

exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations are transferred directly to the Group’s foreign 
currency translation reserve in the consolidated statement of financial position. these differences are recognised 
through the profit or loss in the period in which the operation is disposed.

(G) CASH ANd CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown 
within short-term borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

(H) INVENTORIES
Inventories including raw materials, work in progress and finished goods are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value.

Costs incurred in bringing each product to its present location and condition are accounted for as follows:

raw materials – purchase cost on a first-in, first-out basis. the cost of purchase comprises the purchase price, 
import duties and other taxes (other than those subsequently recoverable by the entity from the taxing 
authorities), transport, handling and other costs directly attributable to the acquisition of raw materials. volume 
discounts and rebates are included in determining the cost of purchase.

Finished goods and work-in-progress – cost of direct materials and labour and a proportion of variable and fixed 
manufacturing overheads based on normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned on the basis of weighted 
average costs.

net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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(I) FINANCIAL INSTRUmENTS

Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions to the instrument. For financial assets, this is the equivalent to the date that the Group commits itself 
to either the purchase or sale of the asset (i.e. trade date accounting is adopted).

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transactions costs, except where the instrument 
is classified ‘at fair value through profit or loss’, in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss 
immediately.

Classification and subsequent measurement
Financial instruments are subsequently measured at either of fair value, amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method, or cost. Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a 
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Where available, quoted 
prices in an active market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are 
adopted.

Amortised cost is calculated as:
(a) the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition;
(b) less principal repayments;
(c) plus or minus the cumulative amortisation of the difference, if any, between the amount initially recognised 

and the maturity amount calculated using the effective interest method; and
(d) less any reduction for impairment.

the effective interest method is used to allocate interest income or interest expense over the relevant period 
and is equivalent to the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (including fees, 
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life (or when this cannot be reliably 
predicted, the contractual term) of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or 
financial liability. revisions to expected future net cash flows will necessitate an adjustment to the carrying value 
with a consequential recognition of an income or expense in profit or loss.

the Group does not designate any interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint venture entities as being subject 
to the requirements of accounting standards specifically applicable to financial instruments.

(i)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets are classified at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ when they are either held for trading for the 
purpose of short-term profit taking, derivatives not held for hedging purposes, or when they are designated as 
such to avoid an accounting mismatch or to enable performance evaluation where a group of financial assets is 
managed by key management personnel on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management 
or investment strategy. Such assets are subsequently measured at fair value with changes in carrying value 
being included in profit or loss.

(ii)  Loans and receivables
loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market and are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

loans and receivables are included in current assets, except for those which are not expected to mature within 
12 months after the end of the reporting period.

(iii)  Held‑to‑maturity investments
held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets that have fixed maturities and fixed 
or determinable payments, and it is the Group’s intention to hold these investments to maturity. they are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost.

held-to-maturity investments are included in non-current assets, except for those which are expected to mature 
within 12 months are the end of the reporting period.

If during the period the Group sold or reclassified more than an insignificant amount of the held-to-maturity 
investments before maturity, the entire held-to-maturity investments category would be tainted and reclassified 
as available-for-sale.
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(I) FINANCIAL INSTRUmENTS (CONTINUEd)

Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)
(iv)  Available‑for‑sale financial assets
available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either not suitable to be classified 
into other categories of financial assets due to their nature, or they are designated as such by management. 
they comprise investments in the equity of other entities where there is neither a fixed maturity nor fixed or 
determinable payments.

available-for-sale financial assets are included in non-current assets, except for those which are expected to 
mature within 12 months after the end of the reporting period. (all other financial assets are classified as current 
assets)

(v)  Financial liabilities
non-derivative financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised cost.

derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash flows expires or the asset is 
transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any significant continuing involvement in the 
risks and benefits associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations 
are either discharged, cancelled or expired. the difference between the carrying value of the financial liability 
extinguished or transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of 
non-cash assets or liabilities assumed is recognised in profit or loss.

(J) pROpERTy, pLANT ANd EQUIpmENT
each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost, less, any accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses.

plant and equipment
plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis.

depreciation
the depreciable amount of all fixed assets including buildings and capitalised leased assets, but excluding 
freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to the Group commencing from 
the time the asset is held ready for use. leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the 
unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

the estimated useful lives used for each class of depreciable assets are:

CLASS OF FIxEd ASSET USEFUL LIFE

plant and equipment 3 – 15 years

the assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period.

an asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount 
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. these gains 
and losses are included through the profit or loss.

property, plant and equipment is derecognised and removed from the consolidated statement of financial 
position on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected. Gains and losses from derecognition 
are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount and are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the property, plant and equipment’s carrying value or recognised as a separate 
asset when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will be realised and the cost of 
the item can be measured reliably. all other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss.
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(K) ExpLORATION ANd dEVELOpmENT ExpENdITURE
exploration and evaluation expenditures in relation to each separate area of interest are recognised as an 
exploration and evaluation asset in the year in which they are incurred where the following conditions are satisfied:
i) the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and
ii) at least one of the following conditions is also met:

a) the exploration and evaluation expenditures are expected to be recouped through successful 
development and exploration of the area of interest, or alternatively, by its sale; or

b) exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not, at the reporting date, reached a 
stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable 
reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in relation to, the area of interest are occurring.

exploration and evaluation assets are initially measured at cost and include acquisition of rights to explore, 
studies, exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling and associated activities and an allocation of depreciation 
and amortisation of assets used in exploration and evaluation activities. General and administrative costs 
are only included in the measurement of exploration and evaluation costs where they are related directly to 
operational activities in a particular area of interest.

exploration and evaluation assets are assessed for impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the 
carrying amount of an exploration and evaluation asset may exceed its recoverable amount. the recoverable 
amount of the exploration and evaluation asset is estimated to determine the extent of the impairment loss 
(if any). Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in previous years.

(L) GAS pROpERTIES

Assets in development
When the technical and commercial feasability of an undeveloped gas field has been demonstrated, the field 
enters its development phase. the cost of gas assets are transferred from exploration and evaluation expenditure 
and reclassifed into development phase and include past exploration and evaluation costs, development drilling 
and other subsurface expenditure, surface plant and equipment, and any associated land and buildings.

producing assets
the costs of gas assets in production are separately accounted for as tangible assets, and include past 
exploration and evaluation costs, pre-production development costs and the ongoing costs of continuing to 
develop reserves for production and to expand or replace plant and equipment and any associated land and 
buildings.

Amortisation
producing assets are amortised on a units of production basis over proved reserves.

(m) ImpAIRmENT OF ASSETS
at each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable amount of 
the asset, being the higher of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use to the asset’s carrying value. 
any excess of the asset’s carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed through the profit or loss.

Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives.

non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets are assessed for any indication of impairment 
at the end of each reporting period. any indication of impairment requires formal testing of impairment 
by comparing the carrying amount of the asset to an estimate of the recoverable amount of the asset. an 
impairment loss is calculated as the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds the recoverable 
amount of the asset.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment annually regardless of whether there is any indication of impairment.
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(m) ImpAIRmENT OF ASSETS (CONTINUEd)
the recoverable amount is the greater of the asset’s fair value less costs to sell and it’s value in use. the asset’s 
value in use is calculated as the estimated future cash flows discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks associated with the asset. 
assets that cannot be tested individually for impairment, are grouped together into the smallest group of assets 
that generates cash inflows (the asset’s cash-generating unit).

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses are allocated first, to reduce the carrying 
amount of any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units, and then to other assets of the group on a pro rata 
basis.

assets other than goodwill are assessed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. Impairment losses recognised in 
prior periods for assets other than goodwill are reversed up to the carrying amounts that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior periods.

(N) TRAdE ANd OTHER pAyABLES
trade and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period for goods and 
services received by the Group during the reporting period which remain unpaid. the balance is recognised as 
a current liability with the amounts normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability.

(O) GOOdS ANd SERVICES TAx (GST)
revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GSt, except where the amount of GSt 
incurred is not recoverable from the tax office. In these circumstances the GSt is recognised as part of the cost 
of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. receivables and payables in the consolidated 
statement of financial position are shown inclusive of GSt.

(p) LEASES
leases of fixed assets where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset, but 
not the legal ownership that are transferred to entities in the Group are classified as finance leases.

Finance leases are capitalised by recording an asset and a liability at the lower of the amounts equal to the fair 
value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum lease payments, including any guaranteed 
residual values. lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest 
expense for the period.

lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all of the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are 
charged as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

(Q) BORROwING COSTS
For periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009, borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to ready for its intended 
use are capitalised as part of the cost of the asset.

other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occur. Borrowing costs consists of finance 
charges and interest expenses calculated using the effective interest method, and include exchange differences 
arising from foreign currency borrowings to the extent that they are regarded as interest cost adjustments.
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(R) SHARE‑BASEd pAymENT TRANSACTIONS
employees of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payment transactions, whereby 
employees render services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

When the goods or services acquired in a share-based payment transaction do not qualify for recognition as 
assets, they are recognised as expenses.

the cost of equity-settled transactions and the corresponding increase in equity is measured at the fair value 
of the goods or services acquired. Where the fair value of the goods or services received cannot be reliably 
estimated, the fair value is determined indirectly by the fair value of the equity instruments using the Black 
Scholes option valuation technique.

equity-settled transactions that vest after employees complete a specified period of service are recognised as 
services are received during the vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity.

(S) CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTImATES ANd JUdGmENTS
the directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated into the financial statements based on historical 
knowledge and best available current information. estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events 
and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the Group.

Key estimates – Impairment

the Group assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluating conditions specific to the 
Group that may be indicative of impairment triggers. recoverable amounts of relevant assets are reassessed 
using fair value less cost to sell or value-in-use calculations which incorporate various key assumptions.

Key judgements – Share‑based payment transactions

the Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. the fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes 
method. the related assumptions are detailed in note 26. the accounting estimates and assumptions relating 
to equity-settled share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next annual reporting period but may impact expenses and equity.

Key judgments – Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure

the Group capitalises expenditure relating to exploration and evaluation where it is considered likely to be 
recoverable or where the activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the 
existence of reserves. While there are certain areas of interest from which no reserves have been extracted, the 
directors are of the continued belief that such expenditure should not be written off since feasibility studies in 
such areas have not yet concluded. Such capitalised expenditure is carried at the end of the reporting period 
at nil.
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2 pROFIT FOR THE yEAR

(A) REVENUE ANd OTHER INCOmE

2014
$

2013
$

Other revenue:

Interest revenue 362,510 310,407

other revenue 38,628 557,816

401,138 868,223

Other income:

recovery of loan previously written off – 5,000

(B) ExpENSES

depreciation, amortisation and impairment:

Depreciation expenses (included in other expenses) 2,453 12,572

amortisation expenses (included in cost of sales) 3,589,282 1,528,173

Impairment expense – exploration assets (included in other expenses) 9,715,284 8,718,058

Impairment expense – p,p&e / Gas properties (included in other expenses) 2,994,466 –

Impairment expense – loan (included in other expenses) 48,056 –

16,349,541 10,258,803

Administrative expenses (included in other expenses):

Corporate and other expenses  1,536,376 854,577

travel and accommodation expenses 248,859 300,289

1,785,235 1,154,866

Employee benefits expense (included in other expenses):

Wages and salaries 356,529 107,626

Share Based payments (20,724) 249,134

Superannuation 4,810 22,341

340,615 379,101

minimum lease payments:

minimum lease payments 157,687 152,349

157,687 152,349

the impairment expenses related to capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure. the decision to impair 
the amount was based on suspending operations at a well to which the exploration and evaluation costs related.
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3 INCOmE TAx ExpENSE/(INCOmE)

(A) THE COmpONENTS OF TAx ExpENSE/(INCOmE) COmpRISE:

2014 
$

2013 
$

Current tax 235,043 55,451

Deferred tax (1,166,207) (884,218)

(931,164) (828,767)

(B)  THE pRImA FACIE TAx ON pROFIT FROm ORdINARy ACTIVITIES BEFORE INCOmE TAx IS 
RECONCILEd TO THE INCOmE TAx AS FOLLOwS:

prima facie tax benefit on loss from ordinary activities before income tax at 
30% (2013: 30%) (7,339,862) (2,252,252)

– Deferred tax assets not previously recognised now brought to account  – (125,786)

– effects of differences in global tax rates 2,434,795 650,511

– effects of differences in foreign exchange rates (195,948) –

– effects of change in tax rate in ukraine 183,667 –

– Share based payment (6,217) 74,740

– non deductable expenses/non assessable income 11,040 (2,760)

– temporary differences not recognised as a deferred tax asset 3,497,723 –

– Current year losses not recognised as a deferred tax asset 483,638 826,781

– Income tax benefit (931,164) (828,767)

4 dEFERREd TAx ASSETS ANd LIABILITIES
ASSETS LIABILITIES TOTAL

2014 
$

2013 
$

2014 
$

2013 
$

2014 
$

2013 
$

exploration 
& evaluation 
expenditure and 
depreciable plant 
and equipment 3,403,107 – – (1,297,435) 3,403,107 (1,297,435)

prepayments – – (1,482) (842) (1,482) (842)

provisions 34,827 12,305 – – 34,827 12,305

accruals 55,511 110,623 – – 55,511 110,623

receivables 5,760 9,142 – – 5,760 9,142

Deferred tax assets 
not recognised (3,497,723) – – – (3,497,723) –

Total 1,482 132,070 (1,482) (1,298,277) – (1,166,207)
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4 dEFERREd TAx ASSETS ANd LIABILITIES (CONTINUEd)
30 JUNE 2013

$
RECOGNISEd
IN INCOmE

30 JUNE 2014
$

exploration and evaluation and depreciation on plant 
and equipment (1,297,435) 4,700,542 3,403,107

prepayments (842) (640) (1,482)

provisions 12,305 22,522 34,827

accruals 110,623 (55,112) 55,112

Deferred tax assets not recognised – (3,497,723) (3,497,723)

receivables 9,142 (3,382) 5,760

(1,166,207) 1,166,207 –

estimated unused tax losses at 30 June 2014 of $3,455,044 (2013: $2,971,406) have not been recognised as 
a deferred tax asset as the future recovery of these losses is subject to the entities satisfying requirements 
imposed by the relevant regulatory authorities in the respective jurisdictions in which the Group operates. 
other temporary differences of $34,946 have also not been recognised as a deferred tax asset. the benefits of 
deferred tax assets not brought to account will only be brought to account if:

– Future assessable income is derived of a nature and of an amount sufficient to enable the benefit to be 
realised; and

– the conditions of deductibility imposed by the relevant tax legislation continue to be complied with and no 
changes in tax legislation adversly affect the Group in realising the benefit

5 CASH ANd CASH EQUIVALENTS
2014

$
2013

$

Cash at bank 745,318 2,333,977

745,318 2,333,977

6 TRAdE ANd OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current

trade receivables 447,615 1,374,873

loan to ukrgeoinvest – related party * 1,421,214 –

other receivables 414,822 95,339

2,283,651 1,470,212
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6 TRAdE ANd OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUEd)

Aged analysis 
the ageing analysis of current receivables is as follows:

2014
$

2013
$

0-30 days 447,615 1,470,212

447,615 1,470,212

non-Current

loan to employee 11,690 12,027

loan to ukrgeoinvest – related party * – 2,159,392

loan to KmDC holdings Korea – 48,057

Total non‑current trade and other receivables 11,690 2,219,476

Fair value and risk exposures
i) Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value approximates their fair value;
ii) the maximum exposure to credit risk is the fair value of receivables. Collateral is not held as security;
iii) Disclosure on foreign exchange and interest rate risk can be found at note 18.
iv) other receivables generally have repayments between 30 and 90 days.

* – loan made in several tranches. Fair value of the interest free loans was determined with reference to ukraine 
term deposit interest rate. the Group holds no assets as security in relation to these loans. Subsequent to 
the reporting date, the Group restructured agreements with shareholders of ukrgeoinvest llC (holder of the 
Stoliarovska licence) in relation to finalisation of the acquisition of 100% of the shares of ukrgeoinvest. the 
consideration payable is equal to the value of the loan outstanding. the restructured agreements are subject 
to certain conditions, chief amongst these conditions is receipt of relevant antitrust clearance issued by the 
antimonopoly Committee of ukraine.

7 INVENTORIES

Current

at cost:

raw materials and stores  278,427  157,738

 278,427  157,738

8 pROpERTy, pLANT ANd EQUIpmENT

plant anD eQuIpment

– at cost  4,712,961  5,856,444

– accumulated depreciation  (553,597)  (158,745)

– accumulated impairment  (1,686,221)  (250,000)

 2,473,143  5,447,699
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8 pROpERTy, pLANT ANd EQUIpmENT (CONTINUEd)

(A) mOVEmENTS IN CARRyING AmOUNTS
movement in the carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and 
the end of the current financial year:

pLANT ANd 
EQUIpmENT

$

Balance at 30 June 2013

Balance at the beginning of year 5,447,699

additions 1,083,575

Depreciation expense (394,852)

Impairment expense (1,436,221)

Foreign exchange (2,227,058)

Balance at 30 June 2014 2,473,143

Balance at 30 June 2012

Balance at the beginning of year 367,797

additions 4,686,147

Depreciation expense (150,770)

Foreign exchange 544,525

Balance at 30 June 2013 5,447,699

During the year ended 30 June 2014, an impairment of $1,436,221 (2013: nil) was made to write property, 
plant and equipment to its recoverable amount. the impairment related to a downgrade of reserves on the 
Sorochynska cash generating unit. recoverable amount was determined through value-in-use by discounting 
expected future cash flows. a pre-tax discount rate of 23% was applied in the value in use calculation.

9 OTHER ASSETS
2014

$
2013

$

Current

prepayments 83,735 87,679

83,735 87,679

10 dEFERREd ExpLORATION ANd EVALUATION ExpENdITURE 
the following table details the movement in deferred exploration and evaluation expenditure reported in the 
statement of financial position during the period.

2014
$

2013
$

Carrying amount at beginning of year 12,679,565 18,035,581

expenditure – 2,335,309

Impairments (9,276,889) (8,718,057)

Foreign exchange impact (2,100,255) 1,026,732

1,302,421 12,679,565

the recoupment of deferred exploration and evaluation costs carried forward is dependent upon the successful 
development and commercialisation or sale of the areas of interests being explored and evaluated.
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11 GAS pROpERTIES
2014

$
2013

$

Carrying amount at beginning of year 6,753,742 7,997,594

additions 5,060 783,007

amortisation expense (3,177,332) (2,594,382)

Impairment expense (790,144) –

Foreign exchange impact (1,432,042) 567,523

1,359,284 6,753,742

During the year ended 30 June 2014, an impairment of $790,144 (2013: nil) was made to write gas properties 
to its recoverable amount. the impairment related to a downgrade of reserves on the Sorochynska cash 
generating unit. recoverable amount was determined through value-in-use by discounting expected future 
cash flows. a pre-tax discount rate of 23% was applied in the value in use calculation.

12 TRAdE ANd OTHER pAyABLES

Current

other payables 659,397 1,151,668

trade payables 54,056 73,329

713,453 1,224,997

13 pROVISIONS

non-Current

Carrying amount at beginning of year 315,108 42,837

accretion 26,657 241,018

Foreign exchange impact (111,156) 31,253

230,306 315,108

provision relates to the cost of restoration and rehabilitation of ukraine gas assets upon closure of plant. outflow 
is anticipated to occur once production has been completed. the Group currently holds a 20 year production 
licence over its producing asset.
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14 ISSUEd CApITAL
2014

$
2013

$

287,181,427 (2013: 287,181,427) ordinary shares 42,156,932 42,156,932

Share issue costs written off against share premium (4,084,881) (4,084,881)

38,072,051 38,072,051

Ordinary Shares

2014
No.

2013
No.

at the beginning of the reporting period 287,181,427 285,531,427

Shares issued during the year:

exercising rights – 250,000

Settlement of obligation – 1,400,000

at reporting date 287,181,427 287,181,427

ordinary shares have the right to receive dividends as declared, and in the event of winding up the Company, to 
participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid 
up on shares held. ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of 
the Company.

Options
(i) For information relating to hawkley oil and Gas limited employee option plan, including details of options 

issued, exercised and lapsed during the financial year and the options outstanding at year-end, refer to note 
26.

(ii) For information relating to share options issued to key management personnel during the financial year, refer 
to note 20.

Capital management
the primary objective of the Group’s capital management program is to safeguard its ability to continue as 
a going concern, so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for the other stakeholders and 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. the Group manages its capital structure and 
makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.

no changes were made in the objectives, policy or processes for managing capital during the years ended 30 
June 2013 and 30 June 2014.

15 RESERVES

(A) FOREIGN CURRENCy TRANSLATION RESERVE
the foreign currency translation reserve records exchange differences arising on translation of a foreign 
controlled subsidiary.

(B) CONVERTIBLE NOTE EQUITy RESERVE
the equity reserve arose on issue and subsequent buy-back of convertible note issued by ukraine Gas 
Investments limited.

(C) SHARE BASEd pAymENT RESERVE
the share based payment reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of employee share options 
and performance rights.
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16 EARNINGS pER SHARE
2014

$
2013

$

earnings used to calculate basic epS (23,535,043) (6,678,738)

earnings used in calculation of diluted epS (22,535,043) (6,678,738)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year used in calculating basic epS

2014
No.

2013
No.

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year – 
no. used in calculating basic epS 287,181,427 286,823,093

number of performance rights outstanding – –

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year 
used in calculating dilutive epS 287,181,427 286,823,093

Because the Group made a loss for the year ended 30 June 2014, diluted earnings per share is not reflected for 
unexercised options (16,000,000) or performance rights (1,000,000) as the result is anti-dilutive in nature.

17 CApITAL ANd LEASING COmmITmENTS
Drilling commitments:

2014
$

2013
$

payable:

– no later than 12 months 198,225 2,436,449

198,225 2,436,449

18 FINANCIAL RISK mANAGEmENT
the Group’s financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable and payable and 
loans to and from related parties.

the totals for each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance with aaSB 139 as detailed in the 
accounting policies to these financial statements, are as follows:

NOTE 2014
$

2013
$

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5 745,318 2,333,977

trade and other receivables 6 2,295,341 3,689,688

Total Financial Assets 3,040,659 6,023,665

Financial Liabilities

trade and other payables 12 713,453 1,224,997

Total Financial Liabilities 713,453 1,224,997

the carrying amounts of these financial instruments approximate their fair values.
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18 FINANCIAL RISK mANAGEmENT (CONTINUEd)

Financial Risk management policies
exposure to key financial risks is managed in accordance with the Group’s risk management policy with the 
objective to ensure that the financial risks inherent in oil and gas exploration activities are identified and then 
managed or kept as low as reasonably practicable.

the main financial risks that arise in the normal course of business are market risk (including currency risk, interest 
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Different methods are used to measure and manage these 
risk exposures. liquidity risk is monitored through the ongoing review of available cash and future commitments 
for exploration expenditure. exposure to liquidity risk is limited by anticipating liquidity shortages and ensure 
capital can be raise in advance of shortages. Interest rate risk is managed by limiting the amount interest bearing 
loans entered into by the Group. It is the Board’s policy that no speculative trading in financial instruments be 
undertaken so as to limit expose to price risk.

primary responsibility for identification and control of financial risks rests with the Chief executive officer and 
Company Secretary, under the authority of the Board. the Board is appraised of these risks from time to time 
and agrees any policies that may be undertaken to manage any of the risks identified.

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including criteria for recognition, the basis 
of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each financial 
instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements. the carrying values less the impairment allowance 
for receivables and payables are assumed to approximate fair values due to their short term nature. Cash and 
cash equivalents are subject to variable interest rates.

Specific Financial Risk Exposures and management

(a) Credit risk
exposure to credit risk relating to financial assets arises from the potential non-performance by counter parties 
of contract obligations that could lead to a financial loss to the Group.

the Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties.

the Group’s customers pay in advance so consequently no significant exposure to bad debts or other credit risks.

With respect to credit risk arising from financial assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents and 
receivables, the exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counter party, with a maximum exposure 
equal to the carrying amount of these instruments. at balance date cash and deposits were held with national 
australia Bank.

(b) Liquidity risk
liquidity risk arises from the possibility that the Group might encounter difficulty in settling its debts or otherwise 
meeting its obligations related to financial liabilities.

prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash reserves to meet the ongoing operational 
requirements of the business. It is the Group’s policy to maintain sufficient funds in cash and cash equivalents. 
Furthermore, the Group monitors its ongoing research and development cash requirements and raises equity 
funding as and when appropriate to meet such planned requirements. the Group has no undrawn financing 
facilities. trade and other payables, the only financial liability of the Group, are due within 3 months.

the tables below reflect an undiscounted contractual maturity analysis for financial liabilities.

Cash flows realised from financial assets reflect management’s expectation as to the timing of realisation. actual 
timing may therefore differ from that disclosed. the timing of cash flows presented in the table to settle financial 
liabilities reflects the earliest contractual settlement dates and does not reflect management’s expectations 
that banking facilities will be rolled forward.
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18 FINANCIAL RISK mANAGEmENT (CONTINUEd)
Financial liability and financial asset maturity analysis

wITHIN 1 yEAR 1 TO 5 yEARS
TOTAL CONTRACTUAL 

CASH FLOw
2014

$
2013

$
2014

$
2013

$
2014

$
2013

$

Financial liabilities 
due for payment

trade and other 
payables 713,453 1,224,997 – – 713,453 1,224,997

total contractual 
outflows 713,453 1,224,997 – – 713,453 1,224,997

Financial assets 
– cash flows 
realisable

trade and other 
receivables 2,283,651 1,470,212 11,690 2,219,476 2,295,341 3,689,688

net (outflow)/
inflow on financial 
instruments 1,570,198 245,215 11,690 2,219,476 1,581,888 2,464,691

(c) market risk
i. Interest rate risk
the Group’s cash-flow interest rate risk primarily arises from cash at bank and deposits subject to market bank 
rates. at balance date, the Group does not have any borrowings. the Group does not enter into hedges. an 
increase/ (decrease) in interest rates by 1.25% during the whole of the respective periods would have led to an 
increase/(decrease) in both equity and losses by $29,175/($29,175). 1.25% was thought to be appropriate because 
it represents the 125 basis point change in australian interest rates in the 12 months to 30 June 2014.

ii. Foreign exchange risk
as a result of significant operations in the ukraine and significant payments and receipts denominated in united 
States Dollars, the Group’s statement of financial position can be affected significantly by movements in the 
uah/auD and uSD/auD exchange rates. there is no formal policy in place to protect or hedge the Group from 
adverse movements in foreign currency rates.

Foreign currency risk sensitivity analysis
the following sensitivity analysis is based on foreign currency risk exposures in existence at the reporting date. 
the 10% sensitivity (2013: 10%) is based on reasonably possible changes, over a financial year, using an observed 
range of actual historical rates, for the australian dollar to the uS dollar, and ukraine hryvnia to the uS dollar, 
for the preceding year.

2014
$

2013
$

post tax profit – higher / (lower)

– Fx +10% (2012: +10%) (1,561,577) (1,322,933)

– Fx -10% (2012: -10%) 1,902,926 2,240,447

equity – higher / (lower)

– Fx +10% (2012: +10%) – –

– Fx -10% (2012: -10%) – –
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19 OpERATING SEGmENTS

Identification of reportable segments
the Group has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used 
by the Board of Directors (chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance and determining the 
allocation of resources.

the Group is managed primarily on the basis of product category, operating segments are therefore determined 
on the same basis. the Group’s sole reporting segment is the oil and gas business segment located wholly with 
ukriane.

the accounting policies for internal reporting purposes are consistent with those applied in the preparation of 
the financial report.

Types of products and services
the Group earns revenue solely from the sale of gas.

Geographical information
the Group’s production and sale of gas operates predominately in one geographical segment being ukraine.

2014 2013

REVENUE

NON‑
CURRENT 
ASSETS REVENUE

NON‑
CURRENT 
ASSETS

ukraine 8,973,880 7,370,985 14,244,860 27,039,660

australia 45,593 1,918 868,223 60,822

9,019,473 7,372,903 15,113,083 27,100,482

major customers
During the years ended 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013, revenue received from the sale of gas and condensate 
comprised purchases by the following buyers who each on a proportionate basis equated to greater than 10% 
of total sales for the period (nil where less than 10%):

2014
$

2013
$

Customer 1 7,650,030 –

Customer 2 – 8,643,427

Customer 3 – 2,978,739

20 INTERESTS OF KEy mANAGEmENT pERSONNEL
refer to the remuneration report contained in the Directors’ report for details of the remuneration paid or 
payable to each member of the Group’s key management personnel for the year ended 30 June 2014.

the totals of remuneration paid to key management personnel of the company and the Group during the year 
are as follows:

Short-term employee benefits 1,006,899 775,709

post-employment benefits 25,315 20,679

Share-based payments 32,038 96,456

1,064,252 892,844
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20 INTERESTS OF KEy mANAGEmENT pERSONNEL (CONTINUEd)

Key management personnel Options and Rights Holdings
the number of options over ordinary shares held by each key management person of the Group during the 
financial year is as follows:

30 JUNE 
2014

BALANCE 
AT 

BEGIN‑
NING OF 

yEAR

GRANTEd 
AS 

REmUN‑
ERATION 
dURING 

THE yEAR

ExpIREd 
dURING 

THE yEAR

BALANCE 
ON 

RESIG‑
NATION

BALANCE 
AT ENd 

OF yEAR

VESTEd 
dURING 

THE yEAR

VESTEd 
ANd 

ExER CIS‑
ABLE

VESTEd 
ANd 

UNExER‑
C ISABLE

mr Glenn 
Featherby – – – – – – – –

mr David 
riekie 3,000,000 – – (3,000,000) – – – –

mr richard 
reavley 4,000,000 – (4,000,000) – – – – –

lord richard 
risby 1,000,000 1,000,000 – – 2,000,000 – 1,000,000 –

mr Graham 
lyon 1,000,000 2,000,000 – – 3,000,000 – 1,000,000 –

mr Bill 
Foster – 2,000,000 – – 2,000,000 – – –

9,000,000 5,000,000 (4,000,000) (3,000,000) 7,000,000 – 2,000,000 –

30 JUNE 
2013

BALANCE 
AT 

BEGIN‑
NING OF 

yEAR

GRANTEd 
AS 

REmUN‑
ERATION 
dURING 

THE yEAR

ExERC‑
ISEd 

dURING 
THE yEAR

BALANCE 
ON 

RESIG‑
NATION

BALANCE 
AT ENd 

OF yEAR

VESTEd 
dURING 

THE yEAR

VESTEd 
ANd 

ExERCIS‑
ABLE

VESTEd 
ANd 

UNEx ER‑
CISABLE

mr Glenn 
Featherby – – – – – – – –

mr David 
riekie 3,000,000 – – – 3,000,000 – 3,000,000 –

mr richard 
reavley 4,000,000 – – – 4,000,000 – 4,000,000 –

lord richard 
risby – 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000 – – –

mr Graham 
lyon – 1,000,000 – – 1,000,000 – – –

7,000,000 2,000,000 – – 9,000,000 – 7,000,000 –
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20 INTERESTS OF KEy mANAGEmENT pERSONNEL (CONTINUEd)

Key management personnel Shareholdings
the number of ordinary shares in hawkley oil and Gas limited held by each key management person of the 
Group during the financial year is as follows:

BALANCE AT 
BEGINNING 

OF yEAR

GRANTEd 
AS REmUN‑

ERATION 
dURING THE 

yEAR

ISSUEd ON 
ExERCISE 

OF OpTIONS 
dURING THE 

yEAR
BALANCE ON 
RESIGNATION

BALANCE AT 
ENd OF yEAR

30 June 2014

mr Glenn Featherby 26,239,377 – – – 26,239,377

mr David riekie 238,514 – – (238,514) –

mr richard reavley 12,760,410 – – – 12,760,410

lord richard risby – – – – –

mr Graham lyon – – – – –

Bill Foster – – – – –

39,238,301 – – (238,514) 38,999,787

BALANCE AT 
BEGINNING 

OF yEAR

GRANTEd 
AS REmUN‑

ERATION 
dURING THE 

yEAR

ISSUEd ON 
ExERCISE 

OF OpTIONS 
dURING THE 

yEAR
BALANCE ON 
RESIGNATION

BALANCE AT 
ENd OF yEAR

June 30, 2013

mr Glenn Featherby 26,239,377 – – – 26,239,377

mr David riekie 238,514 – – – 238,514

mr richard reavley 12,760,410 – – – 12,760,410

lord richard risby – – – – –

mr Graham lyon – – – – –

39,238,301 – – – 39,238,301

Other Key management personnel Transactions
there have been no other transactions involving equity instruments other than those described in the tables 
above.

there are no loans to or from key management personnel at year end.

21 AUdITORS’ REmUNERATION
2014

$
2013

$

remuneration of the auditor of the parent entity for:

– audit services 111,191 93,480

– taxation advice – 25,910

111,191 119,390
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22 CONTROLLEd ENTITIES

NAmE
COUNTRy OF 

INCORpORATION

pERCENTAGE 
OwNEd (%)*

2014

pERCENTAGE 
OwNEd (%)*

2013

Legal parent Entity:

hawkley oil and Gas limited australia

Accounting parent Entity:

Janita Global limited B.v.I.

Subsidiaries of legal parent entity:

Janita Global ltd B.v.I. 100 100

ukraine Investments ltd australia 100 100

ukraine Gas Investments ltd australia 100 100

prime Gas llC ukraine 100 100

* percentage of voting power is in proportional to ownership

23 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES ANd CONTINGENT ASSETS
at 30 June 2014 the potential exposure to liabilities that might arise in relation to deductibility of exploration 
costs resulting from additional Cpt liabilities and penalties amounts to auD$48,455.

24 RELATEd pARTy TRANSACTIONS
transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than 
those available to other parties unless otherwise stated.

transaction with related parties:

Intercompany loans
Janita Global limited has a loan receivable from prime Gas llC in the amount of auD$17,151,844 (2013: 
auD$17,358,142). there is an interest receivable component of auD$5,141,391 (2013: auD$4,171,395) that is over 
and above this amount.

hawkley oil and Gas limited has made loan to Janita Global limited of auD$11,005,719 (2013: auD$10,825,046) 
which is interest free.

there an amount of auD$311,790 (2013: auD$445,478) charged by hawkley oil and Gas limited to ukraine 
Investments limited and ukraine Gas Investments limited which represents management fees changed to 
recover costs incurred by hawkley in administering both subsidiaries.

(a) Related party balances

2014
$

2013
$

Current

amount receivable from ukrgeoinvest:

– trade and other receivables  438,056  835,523

– Financial assets (non-current) 1,818,869  2,159,392

Total 2,256,925  2,994,915
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24 RELATEd pARTy TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUEd)

(b) Related party transactions

2014
$

2013
$

ukrgeoinvest

Sales 7,650,030 710,316

Finance expenses 41,865 907,543

Finance income 322,024 110,864

25 CASH FLOw INFORmATION

(a) Reconciliation of Cash Flow from Operations with profit after Income Tax

Net income/(loss) for the period (23,535,043) (6,678,738)

Non‑cash flows in profit

Share based payments (20,724) 249,134

Foreign exchange (gains)/losses 7,465,207 312,151

Depreciation and amortisation 3,591,735 1,540,745

Impairment 12,757,806 8,718,058

 Changes in assets and liabilities

 (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 1,394,348 1,494,561

 (Increase)/decrease in prepayments 3,944 290,366

 (Increase)/decrease in inventories (120,689) (108,534)

 Increase/(decrease) in trade payables and accruals (490,982) (751,454)

 Increase/(decrease) in income taxes payable (33,489) (519,697)

 Increase/(decrease) in deferred taxes payable (1,166,207) (884,219)

 Increase/(decrease) in provisions (84,499) 209,208

(238,593) 3,871,581

26 SHARE‑BASEd pAymENTS
on 29 november 2013, the Group granted 5,000,000 options to directors. lord risby, a director of the company, 
received 1,000,000 options, mr lyon received 2,000,000 options and mr Foster received 2,000,000 options. 
using the Black and Scholes option valuation methodology, the fair value of the options issued were calculated 
using the following inputs.

number of options: 5,000,000 risk free interest rate: 3.43%

exercise price: $0.10 Share price at date of issue: $0.019

expected exercise date: 30 September 2018 expected volatility 89.7%

each option was valued at $0.0085

on 17 January 2014, the Group granted 9,000,000 options to an employee. using the Black and Scholes option 
valuation methodology, the fair value of the options issued were calculated using the following inputs.

number of options: 9,000,000 risk free interest rate: 3.24%

exercise price: $0.10 Share price at date of issue: $0.024

expected exercise date: 30 September 2018 expected volatility 92%

each option was valued at $0.011

For detail on the total expense arising from share based payments see note 2(b).



annual report tWentYFOURTEEN

paGe 56

 noteS to the FINANCIAL STATEmENTS (ContInueD)

26 SHARE‑BASEd pAymENTS (CONTINUEd)
a summary of the movements of all company options issued is as follows:

NUmBER

wEIGHTEd 
AVERAGE 

ExERCISEd 
pRICE

Options outstanding as at June 30, 2012 39,797,716 $0.24

Granted 2,000,000 $0.26

expired (2,290,967) $0.27

Options outstanding as at 30 June 2013 39,506,749 $0.24

Granted 14,000,000 $0.10

expired (37,506,749) $(0.24)

Options outstanding as at 30 June 2014 16,000,000 $0.12

the weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at year end was 3.84 years.

A summary of the movements of all company performance rights issued is as follows:

performance rights outstanding at 30 June 2012 1,750,000

Granted –

expired –

exercised ( 250,000)

performance rights outstanding at 30 June 2013 1,500,000

Granted –

expired  (500,000)

exercised  –

performance rights outstanding at 30 June 2014  1,000,000

27 EVENTS AFTER THE ENd OF THE REpORTING pERIOd
other than as reported below, no matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which 
significantly affected or could significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or 
the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years.

In august 2014, the ukrainian Government passed emergency budget legislation to significantly increase 
production taxes for independent oil and gas companies from august 1st to December 31st 2014. the royalty 
rates for gas has approximately doubled to 55%. It is currently anticipated that the taxes will revert to previous 
levels at the end of this period.
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28 pARENT ENTITy
the following information has been extracted from the books and records of the legal parent, hawkley oil and Gas 
limited and has been prepared in on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements except as follows:

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of the parent entity.

2014
$

2013
$

Statement of Financial position

assets

Current assets 805,358 1,940,583

non-current assets 3,601,917 44,339,634

total assets 4,407,275 46,280,217

liabilities

Current liabilities 56,773 42,626

total liabilities 56,773 42,626

equity

Issued capital 60,020,767 60,020,766

accumulated losses (60,535,086) (18,649,074)

reserves 4,864,821 4,865,899

total equity 4,350,502 46,237,591

Statement of Comprehensive Income

profit /(loss) for the year (41,886,012) (2,591,192)

Total comprehensive income (41,886,012) (2,591,192)

Contingent liabilities
the parent entity did not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2014 or 30 June 2013.

29 COmpANy dETAILS
the registered office and principal place of business of the company is:
 Hawkley Oil and Gas Limited
 Suite 3 / level 3 1292 hay Street
 West perth Wa 6005
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In accordance with a resolution of the directors of hawkley oil and Gas limited, I state that:

In the opinion of the directors:

(a) the financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity are in accordance with the Corporations act 
2001, including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of its 
performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) complying with australian accounting Standards (including the australian accounting Interpretations) 
and the Corporations regulations 2001;

(b) the financial statements and notes also comply with International Financial reporting Standards as disclosed 
in note 1; and

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable.

(d) this declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in 
accordance with section 295a of the Corporations act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2014.

on behalf of the Board

Glenn Featherby
Director

30 September 2014
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Independent auditor's report to the members of Hawkley Oil and Gas 
Limited 

Report on the financial report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Hawkley Oil and Gas Limited, which comprises the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2014, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information, and the directors' declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the 
company and the entities it controlled at the year's end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors' responsibility for the financial report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for 
such internal controls as the directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1, the directors 
also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that 
the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor's responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity's preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's 
internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001.  We have given to the directors of the company a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration, a 
copy of which is included in the directors’ report. 
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Opinion 

In our opinion: 

a. the financial report of Hawkley Oil and Gas Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including: 

i giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June 2014 
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

ii  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 
and 

b. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 
Note 1. 

Report on the remuneration report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors' report for the year ended 30 June 
2014. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. 

Opinion 

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Hawkley Oil and Gas Limited for the year ended 30 June 
2014, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
 
 
Ernst & Young 
 
 
 
 
RJ Curtin 
Partner 
Perth 
30 September 2014 
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BOARd COmpOSITION
the skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of each director, and board committee member, 
who is in office at the date of the annual report and their term of office, are detailed in the Director’s report.

the independent directors of the Company during the year were mr David riekie (resigned 17 September 2013), 
lord risby (resigned 14 october 2014), mr Graham lyon (resigned 14 october 2014), mr Bill Foster (appointed 16 
September 2013) and mr anthony reilly (appointed 14 october 2014).

When determining the independent status of a Director the Board used the Guidelines detailed in the aSx 
Corporate Governance Council’s principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best practice recommendations.

the Board sets out below its “if not why not” report in relation to those matters of corporate governance where 
the Company’s practices depart from the recommendations.

RECOmmENdATION HAwKLEy OIL ANd GAS LImITEd
CURRENT pRACTICE

1.1

Companies should establish the functions reserved 
for the board and those delegated to senior 
executives and disclose those functions.

Satisfied. the functions reserved for the Board 
and delegated to senior executives have been 
established.

the Board Charter is available at www.
hawkleyoilandgas.com in the Corporate 
Governance policy.

1.2

Companies should disclose the process for 
evaluating the performance of senior executives.

Satisfied. a Formal evaluation process has been 
adopted.

the performance evaluation policy is available 
at www.hawkleyoilandgas.com in the Corporate 
Governance policy.

1.3

Companies should provide the information indicated 
in the Guide for reporting on principle 1

Satisfied

the Board Charter is available at www.
hawkleyoilandgas.com in the Corporate 
Governance policy.

During the year the composition of management 
changed significantly. no formal appraisal of 
management was conducted.

2.1

a majority of the board should be independent 
directors.

Satisfied. three of the five board members were 
independent non-executive directors up until 14 
october 2014. From 14 october 2014, two of the 
three board members were independent non-
executive directors.

2.2

the chair should be an independent director. not Satisfied. mr Glenn Featherby is a major 
shareholder and an executive Chairman.

Given the size and nature of the Company, 
mr Glenn Featherby was considered the most 
appropriate director to act as Chairman.

2.3

the roles of chair and Chief executive officer should 
not be exercised by the same individual.

Satisfied until 14 october 2014. Following the 
resignation of the Chief executive officer on 
14 october 2014, the roles of chair and Chief 
executive officer are both exercised by mr 
Glenn Featherby. the Board is satisfied that 
this is an appropriate interim measure while the 
proposed sale of hawkley’s subsidiaries to Black 
Star petroleum limited is progressed and a new 
project is sought for the Company.
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RECOmmENdATION HAwKLEy OIL ANd GAS LImITEd
CURRENT pRACTICE

2.4
the board should establish a nomination committee. not Satisfied. the Company considers that due 

to the size of the company the function of this 
committee is best undertaken by the full board.

2.5

Companies should disclose the process for 
evaluating the performance of the board, its 
committees and individual directors.

Satisfied.

Board performance evaluation policy is available 
at www.hawkleyoilandgas.com in the Corporate 
Governance policy.

2.6

Companies should provide the information indicated 
in the guide to reporting on principle 2

Satisfied

During the year the composition of the Board 
changed significantly. no formal appraisal was 
conducted.

3.1

Companies should establish a code of conduct and 
disclose the code or a summary of the code as to:

the practices necessary to maintain confidence in 
the company’s integrity

the practices necessary to take into account their 
legal obligations and the reasonable expectations of 
their stakeholders

the responsibility and accountability of individuals 
for reporting and investigating reports of unethical 
practices.

Satisfied.

the Code of Conduct is available at www.
hawkleyoilandgas.com in the Corporate 
Governance policy.

3.2

Companies should establish a policy concerning 
diversity and disclose the policy or a summary of 
that policy. the policy should include requirements 
for the board to establish measurable objectives 
for achieving gender diversity for the board to 
assess annually both the objectives and progress in 
achieving them.

Satisfied.

the Diversity policy is available at www.
hawkleyoilandgas.com in the Corporate 
Governance policy.

3.3

Companies should disclose in each annual report 
the measurable objectives for achieving gender 
diversity and progress towards achieving them.

not Satisfied. While embracing the concept of 
diversity, the Board is of the view that at this 
time, it is inappropriate to establish measurable 
diversity objectives or targets and to link 
diversity objectives to the Key performance 
Indicators for the directors and senior 
executives.

3.4

Companies should disclose in each annual report 
the proportion of women employees in the whole 
organisation, women in senior executive positions 
and women on the Board

Currently there are no women in senior executive 
positions or on the Board. the proportion of 
women employees in the organisation as a whole 
stands at 29% as at the date of this report.

3.5 Companies should provide the information indicated 
in the Guide to reporting on principle 3

Satisfied

4.1 the board should establish an audit committee. Satisfied.
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4.2

the audit committee should be structured so that it:
•	 Consists	only	of	non-executive	directors
•	 Consists	of	a	majority	of	independent	directors
•	 Is	chaired	by	an	independent	chair,	who	is	not	

chair of the board
•	 Has	at	least	three	members

not satisfied.

During the year the audit committee comprised 
mr Foster (Chairman, replacing mr riekie), mr 
Featherby and lord risby. mr Featherby is an 
executive director. the Board considers mr 
Featherby’s inclusion to be appropriate given his 
accounting qualifications and financial expertise. 
Following the board changes on 14 october 
2014, the Board is reviewing the requirement for 
a separate audit committee.

4.3 the audit committee should have a formal charter. Satisfied.

4.4

Companies should provide the information indicated 
in the Guide to reporting on principle 4

Satisfied.

the audit committee charter is available at 
www.hawkleyoilandgas.com in the Corporate 
Governance policy.

5.1

Companies should establish written policies 
designed to ensure compliance with aSx listing 
rule disclosure requirements and to ensure 
accountability at senior executive level for that 
compliance and disclose those policies or a 
summary of those policies.

Satisfied.

Continuous disclosure policy is available at 
www.hawkleyoilandgas.com in the Corporate 
Governance policy.

5.2 Companies should provide the information indicated 
in the Guide to reporting on principle 5

Satisfied

6.1

Companies should design a communications 
policy for promoting effective communication with 
shareholders and encouraging their participation 
at general meetings and disclose their policy or a 
summary of their policy.

Satisfied.

Shareholders communication strategy is 
available at www.hawkleyoilandgas.com in the 
Corporate Governance policy.

6.2 Companies should provide the information indicated 
in the Guide to reporting on principle 6

Satisfied

7.1

Companies should establish policies for the 
oversight and management of material business 
risks and disclose a summary of those policies.

Satisfied.

the company has established policies for the 
oversight and management of material business 
risks.

risk management program is available at 
www.hawkleyoilandgas.com in the Corporate 
Governance policy.

7.2

the board should require management to design 
and implement the risk management and internal 
control system to manage the company’s material 
business risks and report to it on whether those risks 
are being managed effectively. the board should 
disclose that management has reported to it as to 
the effectiveness of the company’s management of 
its material business risks.

Satisfied.

management consists of the chief executive 
officer, who has designed and implemented a 
risk management and internal control system to 
manage material business risks. management 
have reported to the Board that those risks are 
being managed effectively.
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7.3

the board should disclose whether it has 
received assurance from the chief executive 
officer (or equivalent) and the chief financial 
officer (or equivalent) that the declaration 
provided in accordance with section 295a of the 
Corporations act is founded on a sound system 
of risk management and internal control and that 
the system is operating effectively in all material 
respects in relation to financial reporting risks.

Satisfied.

the Board has received a section 295a 
declaration pursuant to the 2013 financial period.

7.4

Companies should provide the information indicated 
in the Guide to reporting on principle 7

Satisfied

the board has received the reports and 
assurances in 7.2 and 7.3. the policies are 
available on the company’s website.

8.1

the board should establish a remuneration 
committee.

Satisfied.

During the year the remuneration committee 
comprised lord risby (Chairman), mr lyon and 
mr Featherby. Following the board changes 
on 14 october 2014, the Board is reviewing 
the requirement for a separate remuneration 
committee.

8.2

the remuneration committee should be structured 
so that is:
•	 Consists	of	a	majority	of	independent	directors
•	 Is	chaired	by	an	independent	director
•	 Has	at	least	three	members

Satisfied.

8.3
Companies should clearly distinguish the structure 
of non-executive directors’ remuneration from that 
of executive directors and senior executives.

the structure of Directors’ remuneration is 
disclosed in the remuneration report of the 
annual report.

8.4
Companies should provide the information indicated 
in the Guide to reporting on principle 8

the remuneration committee charter is available 
at www.hawkleyoilandgas.com in the Corporate 
Governance policy.

Further information about the Company’s corporate governance practices is set out on the Company’s website 
at www.hawkleyoilandgas.com.
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the additional aSx information is current as at 30th September 2014.

ORdINARy SHARES

Substantial shareholders

SHAREHOLdER NAmE
NUmBER 

HELd pERCENTAGE

Citicorp nom pty ltd 68,807,590 23.96%

mid West atlantic ltd 25,520,819 8.89%

hSBC Custody nom aust ltd 11,446,476 3.99%

TOp 20 SHAREHOLdERS

RANKING HOLdER NAmE SHARES HELd pERCENTAGE

1 Citicorp nom pl 68,807,590 23.96%

2 mid West atlantic ltd 25,520,819 8.89%

3 hSBC Custody nom aust ltd 11,446,476 3.99%

4 ogden Grp pl 7,171,262 2.50%

5 odgen Geofrey Charles 5,093,372 1.77%

6 mainplay pl 4,945,979 1.72%

7 Dove nom pl 4,378,960 1.52%

8 Featherby Brian + mary 3,545,427 1.23%

9 taylor J W + r G + Jr 3,064,453 1.07%

10 van Der Walt D S +p B 3,042,207 1.06%

11 rishworth G J + Irawati a 3,000,000 1.04%

12 ogane alman ernest 3,000,000 1.04%

13 Brown paul matthew 3,000,000 1.04%

14 Corp advisors aust pl 2,925,000 1.02%

15 Clark Super pl 2,221,213 0.77%

16 Ford ross William + r e 2,000,000 0.70%

17 Dubyk andriy 1,985,251 0.69%

18 J p morgan nom aust ltd 1,868,631 0.65%

19 Greenridge holdings pl 1,659,792 0.58%

20 Jomot pl 1,468,566 0.51%

Total 160,144,998 55.65%

RANGE OF HOLdING – ORdINARy SHARES HOLdERS SHARES

 1  –  1,000 260 66,813

 1,001  –  5,000 343  1,091,823

 5,001  –  10,000 255  2,182,694

 10,001  –  100,000 870  35,136,042

 100,001  –  9,999,999,999 281  248,704,049

Total on register  2,009 287,181,421
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UNmARKETABLE pARCELS
there are 1,351 holders holding less than a marketable parcel of $500 of ordinary shares at a price of 1.3 cents 
per share.

RESTRICTEd SECURITIES
there are no ordinary shares subject to escrow.

UNQUOTEd SECURITIES
there are 2 holders of 2,000,000 unlisted options expiring 30 June 2015 exercisable at $0.26

HOLdERS OF mORE THAN 20% OpTIONS ExpIRING

Holder name Number %

lord risby 1,000,000 50%

Graham lyon 1,000,000 50%

there are 4 holders of 14,000,000 unlisted options expiring 30 September 2018 exercisable at $0.10

HOLdERS OF mORE THAN 20% OpTIONS ExpIRING

Holder name Number %

viktor Dmitriyev 9,000,000 65%

Graham lyon 2,000,000 14%

Bill Foster 2,000,000 14%

lord risby 1,000,000 7%

there is 1 holder of 500,000 performance rights expiring 12 november 2014 issued to an employee under the 
Company’s performance rights plan.

there is 1 holder of 500,000 performance rights expiring 17 January 2016 issued to an employee under the 
Company’s performance rights plan.

VOTING RIGHTS
each fully paid ordinary share carries voting rights of one vote per share.

ON‑mARKET SHARE BUy‑BACK
the Company does not have a current on-market share buy-back.
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www.hawkleyoilandgas.com
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